4 — r ~ T\ Var 4
\ Py ¥ S\ /7
¥ I Nt AN/

f 7 # f \“ .f JJ Jy‘
(& \W), 5(' I

IN THE COURT OF CHANCERY OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE

IN AND FOR NEW CASTLE COUNTY

IN RE CAREMARK )
INTERNATIONAL INC. ) Cons. C.A. No. 13670 o
DERIVATIVE LITIGATION ) == oo

DEFENDANTS' REPLY BRIEF
IN SUPPORT OF THEIR MOTION TO DISMISS
THE THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT

Of Counsel:

Howard M. Pearl
Timothy J. Rivelli
Julie A. Bauer
Winston & Strawn

35 West Wacker Drive
Chicago, IL 60601
(312) 558-5600

Of Counsel:

William J. Linklater
Baker & McKenzie

One Prudential Plaza
130 East Randolph Drive
Chicago, IL 60601
(312) 861-8000

Date: May 26, 1995

Kevin G. Abrams
Thomas A. Beck
Richard I.G. Jones, Jr.
Richards, Layton & Finger
One Rodney Square
P.O. Box 551
Wilmington, DE 19899
(302) 658-6541
Attorneys for Caremark
International Inc.

Kenneth J. Nachbar

Morris, Nichols, Arsht
& Tunnell

1201 N. Market Street

P.O. Box 1347

Wilmington, DE 19899

(302) 658-9200
Attorneys for the
Individual Defendants



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES . . . . . .. i e e e e e e e e e iit
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT . . . . . .. . . i i e e 1
STATEMENT OF FACTS . . . . .. o e e i 4
A. The Parties. . . . . . . . v it e e e e 4
B. Plaintiffs' Allegations Of Wrongdoing By Caremark, Its
Employees And Third Parties . ... ................... 5
1. The OIG Investigation. . ... ... ................ 5
2. The Minnesota Joint Venture Investigation. . ......... 7
3. The Minneapolis Indictment. . .................. 8
4. The Ohio Investigation and Indictment. . . . .......... 8
5. The Aflanta Lawsuit. ... ... .. ... ... ..... 8
6. The Detroit Investigation, . .................... 9
’ 7. The FTC Investigation. . . . .. ... .............. 11
8. Caremark's Sale Of Its Home Infusion
Business. . ........ .. ... i1
C. Plaintiffs' Allegations Of Wrongdoing By The Director
Defendants ... .. .. ... . ..., 12
ARGUMENT . . . ... e 16
L THE THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT MUST BE DISMISSED FOR
FAILURE TO COMPLY WITHRULE 23.1. . . .. ... .......... 16
A. Plaintiffs' Demand Excusal Allegations Are Governed By
Rales .. ... ... . . e 16



B. Plaintiffs Fail To Allege Particularized Facts Creating A
Reasonable Doubt That A Majority Of The Director
Defendants Have A Disqualifying Interest Regarding The
Matters Alleged In The Third Amended Complaint. . ... ... .. 19

1. Plaintiffs Have Failed To Specify Any Warning
Signs Which Should Have Alerted The Caremark
Directors To Illegal Activities By The Company's

Employees. . ... .. e 21
2. Prior Decisions Demonstrate That Plaintiffs'
Demand Excused Allegations Are Inadequate . ........ 235

C. Plaintiffs' Argument That Defendants' Conduct Was Not The
Product Of A Valid Business Judgment Is Inappropriate And
Meritless. . . .. ... e 31

I. THE THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT FAILS TO STATE A CLAIM
IN VIEW OF CAREMARK'S SECTION 102(b)(7) CHARTER
PROVISION . . .. 38

CONCLUSION . . e e e e e e e e 41

-ii-



TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Allison v. General Motors,
604 F. Supp. 1106 (D. Del.),
aff'd, 782 F.2d 1026 (3rd Cir. 1985) . ...
Aronson v. Lewis,

Del. Supr., 473 A.2d 805 (1984)

.......

Baxter Int'] Inc. Shareholders Litig.,
Del. Ch., 654 A.2d 1268 (1995)

-------

Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Bolger,
2 F.3d 1304 (3d Cir. 1993)

Caruana v. Saligman,
Del. Ch., C.A. No. 11135,
Chandler, V.C. (Dec. 21, 1990)

Cottle v. Standard Brands Paint Co.,
Del. Ch., C.A. Nos. 9342, 9405,
Berger, V.C. (Mar. 22, 1990) . . . ... ...
Freedman v. Braddock,

N.Y. Supr. Ct., Nos. 24708/92, 25968/92,
Sherman, J. (May 17, 1993) (ORDER),
aff'd, N.Y.A.D., 609 N.Y.S.2d 777 (1994)

Graham v. Allis-Chalmers Mfg. Co.,
Del. Supr., 188 A.2d 125 (1963)

Grobow v. Perot,
Del. Supr., 539 A.2d 180 (1988)

-------

In_re Dataproducts Corp. Shareholders Litig.,
Del. Ch., C.A. No. 11164,

Jacobs, V.C. (Aug. 22, 1991)

---------

Inre E. F. Hutton Banking Practices Litig.,
634 F. Supp. 265 (S.D.N.Y. 1986)

-iii-

PAGE

passim

passim

.......................

-------------------------

....................

35, 36, 38

20, 35, 36

....................

-------------------------

--------------------

38, 39, 40

....................

25, 26, 34



Kahn v. Roberts,
Del. Ch., C.A. No. 12324,
Hartnett, V.C. (Feb. 28, 1994) . . . . . .. . . . . i i 38

Kahn v. Tremont Corp.,
Del. Ch., C.A. No. 12339, Allen, C.

(Apr. 21, 1994, revised Apr. 22, 1994) . . .. ... . ..o 32

Levine v. Smith,

Del. Ch., C.A. No. 8833,

Jacobs, V.C. (Nov. 27, 1989),

aff'd, Del. Supr., 591 A.2d 194 (1991) . . . . .. .. .. i i 18

Lewis v. Fites,
Del. Ch., C.A. No. 12566,
Berger, V.C. (Feb. 18, 1993) . . .. .. . i e 26, 27

Lewis v. Honeywell Inc.,
Del. Ch., C.A. No. 8651,

Jacobs, V.C. (July 28, 1987) . . ... o i e 33

Miller v. Loucks,
No. 91 C 6539, 1992 WL 329313
(N.D.IIL Nov. 5, 1992) . . .o vt i 29, 31

Mozes v. Welch,
638 F, Supp. 215 (D. Conn. 1986) . ... ... . .. i i 26

Pogostin v. Rice,
Del. Supr., 480 A.2d 619 (1984) . . . . .. . e 19

Rales v. Blasband,
Del. Supr., 634 A.2d 927 (1993) . . . . .. .. passim

Saxe v. Brady,
Del. Ch., 184 A2d 602 (1962) . . .. . .« it e e e e e s 32

Seminaris v. Landa,
Del. Ch., C.A. No. 12579,
Chandler, V.C. May 2, 1995) .. ... ... . i i passim

Solomon v, Pathe Communications Corp.,
Del. Ch., C.A. No. 12563,

Allen, C. (Apr. 21, 1995) . .. . . . e e 40

-1v-



Weinberger v. UQP, Inc.,

Del. Ch,, 409 A.2d 1262 (1979) . . . . . . e 40
OTHER AUTHORITIES

8Dl C. 8102 .. i e e e e e passim
Ch. Ct. R. 11 e e e 38
Ch. Ct. R, 12 . e e e 1, 39, 41
Ch, Ct. R, 23,1 . e e e e e e e e e passim

Manning, The Business Judgment Rule And The

Directors' Duty Of Attention: A Time For
Reality, 39 Bus, Law. 1477 (1984) . . . . . .. .. i i e 18



PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Defendants filed their opening brief in support of their motion to dismiss plaintiffs'
Second Amended Complaint on January 25, 1995. (Dkt. 15, 20)." Defendants demon-
strated in their opening brief that plaintiffs' claims are barred under the Section 102(b)(7)
provision in the Caremark Charter and that plaintiffs failed yet again to comply with the
demand excusal pleading requirements of Chancery Court Rule 23.1. Continuing their
practice of seeking to amend their complaint in an attempt to overcome the defendants’
dismissal arguments, plaintiffs filed on April 11, 1995 both their answering brief in
opposition to defendants' motion to dismiss and a motion for leave to file their Third
Amended and Supplemental Derivative Complaint ("Third Amended Complaint"). (Dkt.
22, 23). Plaintiffs' fourth attempt at pleading a legally cognizable derivative claim adds

no particularized factual support to their previous claims against the thirteen Director Defendants.?

‘Unless otherwise defined herein, all defined terms have the same meaning as set
forth in defendants' opening brief in support of their motion to dismiss the Second
Amended Complaint (Dkt. 20; "DOB __ "). The parties' pleadings and prior
submissions are identified by reference to their docket number as "Dkt " References
to plaintiffs' answering brief in opposition to defendants’' motion to dismiss the Second
Amended Complaint are identified as "PAB ___." A copy of each unreported opinion
cited herein is contained in the compendium filed contemporaneously herewith.

“In order to bring the briefing to a close, the parties have agreed as follows: (i) the
arguments in defendants' opening brief to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint (Dkt.
20) apply to defendants’ arguments regarding the legal insufficiency of the Third
Amended Complaint; (ii) plaintiffs' answering brief (Dkt. 23) will be the only brief filed
by plaintiffs in support of their contention that the Third Amended Complaint states a
viable cause of action; (iii) defendants' reply brief will be the only brief filed by
defendants in support of their contention that the Third Amended Complaint fails to state
a claim under Chancery Court Rule 12(b)(6) and fails to comply with the pleading
requirements of Chancery Court Rule 23.1; and (iv) plaintiffs will stand on the Third
Amended Complaint.
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In an effort to cure the obvious deficiencies of the Second Amended Complaint
(see Dkt. 20), plaintiffs essentially made three changes in the Third Amended Complaint.
First, the Third Amended Complaint attempts to add particularity to plaintiffs' discussion
of the purported "Atlanta Overbilling and Kickback Scheme" by incorporating charges
against Caremark and certain of its employees aired on the February 23, 1995 edition of
PrimeTime Live. (See 3d Amend. Comp. §9 2, 62-66, 84). Second, in a new section
on the purported “fall-out” from the alleged kickback scheme, plaintiffs discuss
Caremark's recent sale of its home infusion business at a purported "fire sale" price. (3d
Amend. Comp. {9 85-86). Third, employing the adjective "intentionally" without any
particularized supporting allegations, plaintiffs now claim that the Director Defendants
"intentionally or recklessly" breached their duty to oversee the actions of Caremark
employees. (3d Amend. Comp. 1§ 90(a), 90(e), 91(a)-(c), 93, 94).

Like its three predecessors, the Third Amended Complaint completely (and fatally)
fails to link the challenged conduct of certain Caremark employees with any action or
disqualifying interest on the part of the Director Defendants. Plaintiffs still do not allege
anything tying any of the thirteen members of the Caremark Board to any of the alleged
wrongdoing. Similarly, plaintiffs continue their failure to offer any particularized basis
for their prior allegations of the Director Defendants' conscious or intentional participa-
tion in the purported wrongdoing. Plaintiffs' argument appears to be that, when
wrongdoing is alleged against corporate employees, demand is excused even where, as
here, (i) plaintiffs cannot allege that any employee has been found to have committed any

illegal act, (ii) there are no particularized allegations linking any, much less a majority,



of the directors to the challenged conduct, and (iii) plaintiffs cannot identify a disqual-
ifying personal interest of the directors. Because plaintiffs have now failed in four
complaints to set forth a claim which survives under Section 102(b)(7) and which
complies with the demand excusal pleading requirements of Rule 23.1, the Court should

dismiss with prejudice plaintiffs’ Third Amended Complaint.



STATEMENT OF FACTS’

A. The Parties.

Caremark operates in two business segments: (i) patient care -- which includes
Caremark's home infusion therapy services, pharmaceutical service alliance programs,
hemophilia and immune deficiency therapies, and physical therapy and rehabilitation
services, and (il) managed care -- which includes prescription drug benefit services, a
preferred provider organization and multi-specialty physician practice management. (3d
Amend. Comp. {8). Plaintiffs allege that the home infusion therapy business, which was
only one of many operations in one of Caremark's two business segments, was "the
division most directly involved in the kickback scheme.” (3d Amend. Comp. 9 8-9,
85). Although Caremark had 1994 fiscal year revenues of approximately $2.4 billion (see
3d Amend. Comp. { 16), plaintiffs do not disclose that during that period Caremark's
infusion business generated only 18.2% of Caremark's revenues and had a net loss before
taxes exceeding $6 million. (Ex. A -- Caremark 1994 10-K, p. 4 and Ex. No. 13.1

(Caremark's 1994 Annual Report), p. 30).*

’Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a copy of the Third Amended Complaint which has
been marked by plaintiffs to show changes from the Second Amended Complaint. In
view of defendants’ summary of the allegations of the Second Amended Complaint in
their opening brief (Dkt. 20, pp. 8-18), this Statement of Facts will discuss only the
allegations in the Third Amended Complaint not contained in the Second Amended
Complaint. '

‘For the reasons set forth in defendants' opening brief (Dkt. 20, p. 8 n. 3), defendants
are entitled to support their motion to dismiss by referring to the contents of the
documents incorporated by plaintiffs into the Third Amended Complaint. Plaintiffs raised
no objection in their answering brief to such references by defendants in their opening
brief. Copies of the pertinent documents are attached hereto and identified herein by
reference to ("Ex. _").
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B. Plaintiffs’ Allegations Of Wrongdoing By Caremark, Its Employees And
Third Parties. '

In support of their liability allegations against the Director Defendants, plaintiffs
continue to rely on the same sevén examples of supposedly illegal conduct set forth in the
Second Amended Complaint. Plaintiffs attempt in the Third Amended Complaint to
supplement two of those examples with additional factual allegations. Critically, plaintiffs
still do not allege with particularity that any of the Director Defendants were involved in,
approved of, knew of or acquiesced to any of the alleged misconduct.

1. The OIG Investigation.

As in the Second Amended Complaint, plaintiffs continue to rely on public
statements by the Company's officers and statements in the Company's SEC filings during
1992-1994 regarding the potential adverse effect of potential adverse findings from the
OIG Investigation into Caremark's payment practices. The Third Amended Complaint
supplements the prior aliegations by referring the OIG's August 9, 1991 subpoenas to
Caremark and subsequent scrutiny of Caremark's contractual relations with various
doctors and hospitals. (3d Amend. Comp. § 27). Plaintiffs continue their failure to
allege any particularized facts demonstrating that the Director Defendants knew that
Caremark's practices were illegal.

Plaintiffs' allegations concerning the OIG Investigation principally are derived
from September 6, 1991 Caremark press release and a September 16, 1991 article in

Modern Healthcare. (3d Amend. Comp. { 23; see Ex. B). Plaintiffs fail to apprise the

Court that, in the same article, Caremark specifically denied any wrongdoing and stated

its intention to "seek clear regulations” from the government. (Ex. B, at 2). In that press
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release and in subsequent public statements, Caremark and its representatives stated that
the Company was discontinuing reimbursements to doctors supplying home care services
to Medicare and Medicaid patients until the issue could be resolved under new federal

regulations. (3d Amend. Comp. 19 24-25). While plaintiffs also cite a September 9,

1991 Chicago Tribune article noting Caremark's discontinuance of consulting arrange-
ments with doctors for Medicare and Medicaid home-care patients (3d Amend. Comp.
§ 24), they omit Caremark's denial of any wrongdoing and explanation that the
discontinuance merely reflected Caremark's conservative position. (Ex. D). Caremark's
denials of any improper activities relating to the OIG Investigation also were reported in

the Business Week article, dated October 7, 1991 (Ex. E), in which (as plaintiffs

acknowledge) Caremark's president stated that the Company's payments to doctors fell
within a "gray area" of the regulations and were not prohibited by the Federal anti-
kickback law. (2d Amend. Comp. § 25).°

The Third Amended Complaint concedes that Caremark's consistent response to
the OIG Investigation was that the Company's payment practices were entirely proper.
(See 3d Amend. Comp. Y 24-25). Nevertheless, plaintiffs assert that the Director
Defendants knew or should have known by November 1992 about supposedly illegal
payment practices by Caremark employees as a result of the OIG Investigation. (3d

Amend. Comp. § 27). This allegation stands in contrast to the undisputed facts that,

*It is not surprising that, in the Third Amended Complaint, plaintiffs have continued
to delete the references in the First Amended Complaint to repeated public statements by
Caremark's president during October-December 1991 that the Company's payment
practices were not in violation of federal Medicare and Medicaid rules. (See Dkt. 14,
{ 23-25, 27; Exs. C, E).
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throughout 1991, Caremark denied any wrongdoing relating to the OIG Investigation and
at least eight of the thirteen Director Defendants had no association with Caremark before
they became directors prior to the November 1992 spin-off by Baxter. (See 3d Amend.
Comp. 19 12, 24-25; Exs. B, C, D, E).

2. The Minnesota Joint Venture Investigation.

Plaintiffs have added the allegation that The Wall Street Journal reported on

March 2, 1995 that a University of Minnesota audit report concluded that the Minnesota
Joint Venture was not within federal safe harbor rules and that it was accordingly
uncertain whether the challenged conduct would be legally defensible. (3d Amend.
Comp. § 42). Plaintiffs fail to note that the audit report specified that activities which
do not fit within a safe harbor are "not presumed to be unlawful.” (Ex. G). They further
ignore Caremark's vice president who stated in the same article that the auditors "didn't
come across any areas with which they were uncomfortable.” (Ex. G).

Although plaintiffs characterize the Minnesota Joint Venture as an "illegal referral
arrangement," the Third Amended Complaint fails to report that the newspaper articles
do not assert that the questioned payments were illegal. Revealingly, plaintiffs also omit
to mention in the Third Amended Complaint that one of the Minneapolis Star Tribune
articles refers to the eleven page response by the University of Minnesota which stated
that the formation and operation of the Minnesota Joint Venture complied with applicable
law, and that procedures currently are in place to assure continued compliance. (See

Ex. H). Most importantly, plaintiffs continue their failure to allege that the Director



Defendants were in any way involved in or aware of what plaintiffs repeatedly refer to
(with curious certainty) as an "illegal" scheme. (See 3d Amend. Comp. {4 36-42).
3. The Minneapolis Indictment.
The Third Amended Complaint adds no new facts regarding the Minneapolis

indictment other than to recharacterize The Wall Street Journal's description of that

indictment and the related investigation. (3d Amend. Comp. Y 50). As before, no
allegations connect any of the Director Defendants with the Minneapolis indictment or
any of the persons named in that indictment. (See 3d Amend. Comp. Y9 43-52).

4, The Ohio Investigation and Indictment.

Plaintiffs' allegations concerning the Ohio investigation and indictment are
substantially unchanged. (3d Amend. Comp. § 53-55). While plaintiffs cite articles
speculating that the unnamed "home infusion company” is Caremark (3d Amend. Comp.
{53, 55), they omit both the critical fact that the unnamed company was not charged in
the indictment and Caremark's specific denial of wrongdoing. (Exs. I, J). As before,
no allegations connect any of the Director Defendants with the Ohio investigation and
indictment or any of the persons involved in the Ohio proceedings.

5. The Atlanta I awsuit.

Plaintiffs supplement their allegations regarding the Atlanta Lawsuit by referring
to reports from the February 23, 1995 edition of PrimeTime Live. (3d Amend. Comp.
1 62-66). In the PrlmeTifne segment, a physician's office manager and two unidentified
former Caremark employees essentially stated that an unidentified number of unnamed

doctors in Atlanta received a percentage of Caremark's insurance billings as a form of



referral fees. (3d Amend. Comp. § 64). Of course, plaintiffs fail to mention that portion
of the Primetime Live episode where Caremark asserts that its arrangements were
structured to better serve patients and complied with all applicable federal and state laws.
(Ex. K). Plaintiffs further do not allege that the Director Defendants participated in,
approved of, or even had knowledge of the alleged wrongdoing in Atlanta. In fact,
plaintiffs acknowledge that the Atlanta lawsuit was settled and that the plaintiff in that
proceeding signed "an exculpatory affidavit.” (3d Amend. Comp. §60). In that affidavit
the Atlanta plaintiff stated under oath that "he had no personal knowledge of any
kickbacks to doctors." (Ex. K).

6. The Detroit Investigation,

Plaintiffs have supplemented their prior assertions regarding the Detroit
Investigation by adding allegations relating to the profitability of the purported scheme
involving Dr. Margulis, as well as raising allegations that certain unnamed former
Caremark employees allegedly stated that the Company supposedly charges $250 per
patient for a regimen of intravenous nutrients which costs the Company only about $6.
(3d Amend. Comp. 99 70, 72).

Although plaintiffs rely exclusively on an article in the November 11, 1994 Wall
Street Journal (the "November WSJ Article") to contend that two former Caremark em-
ployees in Detroit believed that Caremark's payment practices were intended to induce
patient referrals (3d Amend. Comp. 9§ 67-71), plaintiffs once again failed to include in
their complaint a host of significant facts from the November WSJ Article. (Ex. L).

First, the November WSJ Article clearly states that Caremark terminated its joint venture



with Margulis in December 1992 -- the fourth month after nine out of ten of the Outside
Directors joined the Caremark board, and less than one month after plaintiffs possibly
could have become stockholders of the Company following the Spin-Off. Second, none
of the wrongs alleged in the November WSJ Article are reported to have occurred after
1992, Third, the November WSJ Article makes the following statements about
Caremark's response to the Detroit Investigation:

Caremark denies any impropriety, saying that "compliance with
the law has always been a high priority."

* * *

Caremark had contracts with doctors spelling out what patient-monitoring

services were expected and forswearing any effort to induce referral of

patients, A Caremark attorney, Howard M. Pearl, says any doctor failing

to perform patient monitoring "would have violated Caremark's clearly

stated policies.”
(Ex. L). Finally, as with every other allegation in the Third Amended Complaint, there
are no factual allegations suggesting that any of the Director Defendants are implicated
in the alleged wrongdoings, are the subjects of the reported investigations, or had any
knowledge of the allegedly wrongful activity in Detroit. (See 3d Amend. Comp. 4 67-
72).

Plaintiffs further note that, in articles appearing on November 17-18, 1994, the

Wall Street Journal, New York Times and Chicago Tribune reported that the federal

investigation of Caremark had been expanded to focus on Caremark's office in Detroit.
(3d Amend, Comp. § 76-77). In characteristic fashion, plaintiffs once again omit to
mention that all three articles refer to Caremark's denial of any wrongdoing. (Exs. M,

N, 0).
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7. The FTC Investigation.

Plaintiffs continue to assert that the FTC is investigating whether relationships
between the Company's prescription drug division and various drug companies violate the
Clayton Act or the FTC Act. (3d Amend. Comp. § 82). The FTC investigation appears
to be entirely separate from the proceedings relating to Caremark's infusion business.
Consistent with the deficiencies throughout the Third Amended Complaint, no allegations
link any decision by the Director Defendants to the FTC investigation. (Id.)

8. Caremark's Sale Of Its Home Infusion Business.

On January 29, 1995, Caremark entered into an agreement to sell its home
infusion business for $310 million to James Sweeney, Caremark's founder and the current
CEO of Coram Healthcare Corp. (See 3d Amend. Comp. 19 5, 85). Baxter Interna-
tional, which owned Caremark until the 1992 spin-off, had purchased the home infusion
business from Sweeney in 1987 for $586 million. (3d Amend. Comp. 1Y 7, 85).
Plaintiffs allege no facts comparing (i) the business Baxter purchased from Sweeney in
1987 with the division Caremark sold in 1995, (ii) the competitive environment for a
home infusion business in 1987 and in 1995, or (iii) any of the multiple external factors

which would affect the value of a home infusion business in 1987 and 1995.°

‘Plaintiffs’ allegation that Caremark received only a "fire sale” price for its infusion
business from Sweeney is inconsistent with other allegations of the Third Amended
Complaint. The sale price presumably would have been diminished if the acquiror
assumed all of that division's actual and contingent liabilities, including the potential
exposure resulting from the pending investigations and lawsuits. However, plaintiffs
acknowledge that Caremark's agreement with Sweeney specifies that Caremark bears sole
responsibility for any liabilities which might result from government or civil proceedings
relating to the home infusion business. Notably, plaintiffs do not allege that the Director

(continued...)

-11-



Plaintiffs assert that the sale of Caremark's home infusion business was occasioned
by the pendency of stockholder class actions in Illinois and Minnesota as well as negative
publicity occasioned by the PrimeTime Live story. (3d Amend. Comp. 9§ 83-84).
Plaintiffs allege that the sale of the Company's home infusion division will not relieve
Caremark of liability for the class action lawsuits, which plaintiffs further allege that the
Company is attempting to settle. (3d Amend. Comp. § 86). According to plaintiffs, a
CNBC reporter has estimated that Caremark could be required to pay $400 - $700 million
to settle all of the pending state and federal investigations and proceedings. (3d Amend.
Comp. § 87).

C. Plaintiffs' Allepations Of Wrongdoing By The Director Defendants.

Despite the fact that plaintiffs' supplemental allegations in the Third Amended
Complaint utterly fail to link the Director Defendants with any of the purported
wrongdoing, plaintiffs have amended the charging paragraphs of their complaint to allege
that the Director Defendants acted "intentionally or recklessly” in allowing Caremark "to
enter into and continue arrangements . . . which violated federal and state anti-kickback
laws for Medicare and Medicaid patients.l“ (E.g., 3d Amend. Comp. %9 2, 90-91, 93-

94).

%(...continued)
Defendants breached any legal duties in approving the sale of the Company's infusion
business to Sweeney. In the absence of any logically consistent or specific allegations
regarding the supposed injury to Caremark relating to the sale of its home infusion
business, plaintiffs cannot overcome the presumption that Caremark received the best
available price. (See 3d Amend. Com. Y 85-86).
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The fatal defect in plaintiffs' "intentionally or recklessly" charge is that Caremark
consistently has denied any wrongdoing in connection with its payment practices in the
seven examples identified in the Third Amended Complaint. Caremark responded to the
commencement of the OIG Investigation in 1991 by asserting that the Company had
complied with the law and would continue to do so. (See Amend. Comp. {9 24-25; Exs.
B, C, D).” Plaintiffs also acknowledge the September 26, 1994 statg;nent by Caremark
that the Company will not enter into or continue any financial relationship with a
physician unless it is "fully consistent" with a "new" federal law. (3d Amend. Comp.
§ 79). Plaintiffs only rebuttal to Caremark's compliance statement is to point to the
several investigations and a supposedly critical observation by an assistant in a regional -
office of HHS that Caremark made similar statements in 1991. (3d Amend. Com. § 81).
Of course, despite the commencement of the OIG Investigation in August 1991 -- nearly
four years ago, neither Caremark nor any of its employees have been found guilty of
criminal conduct or subject to civil liability for any of the matters identified in the Third
Amended Complaint. Thus, it is impossible to understand how plaintiffs can assert that
the Director Defendants "intentionally or recklessly” allowed the continuation of illegal

activities. (See, e.g., 3d Amend. Comp. § 91(a)).

"Plaintiffs exceed the boundaries of proper pleading by deliberately mischaracterizing
Caremark's statements in 1991 to suggest that Caremark's management "acknowledged
. . . the questionable propriety” of certain payment practices and that the Company
"committed to discontinue such {questionable] arrangements.” (3d Amend Comp. 9§ 26-
27). In fact, the misleading conclusions drawn by plaintiffs are completely inconsistent
with the relevant statements.
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Plaintiffs' assertion that the Director Defendants consciously acquiesced to illegal
activities (3d Amend. Comp. § 91(b)) is undercut fatally by plaintiffs’ admission that
Caremark consistently has asserted the propriety of its payment practices involving
doctors and hospitals which use Caremark's infusion therapy services. (See 3d Amend.
Comp. §9 24, 25; Exs. B, C, D). As to the Minnesota Joint Venture, the eleven-page
rebuttal by the University of Minnesota Hospital speaks for itself. (Ex. H). Caremark
was not named as a defendant in the Ohio Indictment, and the Atlanta Lawsuit was settled
after the individual plaintiff executed an affidavit which denied any wrongdoing by
Caremark. Furthermore, as Caremark has stated consistently and as plaintiffs concede,
the Company has policies and practices to prohibit wrongdoing by its employees. (See
Ex. L). The statements and documents set forth and incorporated by reference in the
Third Amended Complaint demonstrate that Caremark has denied any misconduct and
plaintiffs fail to allege that the Board had a basis to conclude that the Company's
compliance policies were not being followed. Accordingly, the Third Amended
Complaint fails to allege with particularity that the Director Defendants "intentionally or
reckiessly” allowed the Company to engage in illegal conduct.

The Director Defendants’ supposed knowing acquiescence of illegal activities also
is inconsistent with the status and nature of the proceedings cited in the Third Amended
Complaint. Plaintiffs themselves allege that Caremark's payments to doctors fell into a
"gray area" and were not "prohibited by the Federal anti-kickback law."” (3d Amend.
Comp. 925). Furthermore, plaintiffs refer to past and ongoing investigations as

determining whether Caremark's practices were illegal. (3d Amend. Comp. § 27;
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emphasis added). Plaintiffs acknowledge that (1) Caremark has disclosed that the nature,
scope, timing and outcome of the OIG Investigation "are not currently determinable,” (ii)
neither Caremark nor any of its employees has been indicted or subjected to restitution
claims in connection with the Minneapolis Joint Venture, the Detroit Investigation, the
FTC Investigation or the Ohio Indictment; (ii1) the Minneapolis Indictment has not
resulted in a determination of wrongdoing by Caremark or any of its employees; and (iv)
the Atlanta Lawsuit has been settled. Thus, plaintiffs only.assert that the Director
Defendants supposedly acquiesced to "risky” practices which "could result” in the loss
by Caremark of some unspecified amount of revenues. (3d Amend. Comp. § 27;
emphasis added). Having conceded that Caremark has denied any wrongdoing and that
the Company has never been found to have engaged in any illegal practices, plaintiffs
have failed to satisfy Rule 23.1 by alleging with particularity that the Director Defendants
"intentionally or recklessly” allowed Caremark or its employees to engage in improper

conduct.
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ARGUMENT

I. THE THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT MUST BE DISMISSED FOR
FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH RULE 23.1.

A. Plaintiffs' Demand Excusal Allegations Are Goveméd By Rales.

Recognizing the inadequacy of their demand excusal allegations under Rales v,
Blasband, Del. Supr., 634 A.2d 927 (1993), plaintiffs contend that their compliance with
the strict pleading requirements of Rule 23.1 should be evaluated under the two-part test
articulated in Aronson v. Lewis, Del. Supr., 473 A.2d 805 (1984). (PAB 18-21). The
parties agree that, because the business judgment rule "operates only in the context of

director action", Aronson, 473 A.2d at 813, the Aronson test for determining demand

futility does not apply "where the board that would be considering the demand did not
make a business decision which is being challenged in the derivative suit," Rales, 634

A.2d at 933-34, (See DOB 24-28; PAB 19). However, plaintiffs assert that Aronson,

rather than Rales, applies because the Court should infer that the Caremark directors

made a "conscious decision" to ignore the supposed warning signs of improper practices
and to refrain from taking action to ensure the termination of the challenged activities.
Plaintiffs' argument simply ignores the clear standards set forth in Aronson and Rales for
determining the legal test to apply under Rule 23.1 to assess the sufficiency of demand
futility allegations.

It is certainly true that, in the absence of a formal vote or resolution of the

directors, Aronson might apply because the board made an informal decision or reached

a consensus in deliberations to refrain from addressing a particular matter. Nevertheless,

as the Delaware Supreme Court explained unequivocally in Rales and Aronson, the
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application of the second prong of Aronson test is predicated on the existence of a

business decision which is subject to evaluation under the business judgment rule. See

Rales, 634 A.2d at 933 (Aronson applies to a "conscious decision by directors to act or

refrain from acting") (emphasis added); Aronson, 473 A.2d at 813 ("the business

judgment rule operates only in the context of director action"). Absent a specific
"business decision of the board" (which must be made consciously) or "board action," it
is "impossible to perform the essential inquiry contemplated by Aronson -- whether the
directors have acted in conformity with the business judgment rule in approving the
challenged transaction.” Rales, 634 A.2d at 933. Thus, "a court should not apply the
Aronson test for demand futility where the board that would be considering the demand
did not make a business decision which is being chaltlenged in the derivative suit.” Rales,
634 A.2d at 933-34 (emphasis added).

The inapplicability of the two-prong Aronson test to situations such as this, where

no specific board decision is challenged, was recently confirmed by this Court in
Seminaris v. Landa, Del. Ch., C.A. No. 12579, Chandler, V.C. (May 2, 1995). In
Seminaris, plaintiff alleged that _the directors of Fidelity Medical, Inc. breached their
fiduciary duties by conspiring with or failing to oversee the company's CEO and other
employees, who allegedly misstated the company's expected performance in public
statements, thereby subjecting the company to several securities fraud lawsuits and an
SEC investigation. Upon observing that "plaintiff does not challenge a specific board
action that approved or ratified these alleged wrongdoings," the Court determined that the

Rales test applied rather than the Aronson test. Seminaris, slip op. at 8. As in
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Seminaris, plaintiffs here identify no specific board action that was approved or ratified

by the Director Defendants. Accordingly, the Rales test applies.

Plaintiffs' four complaints consistently have failed to identify any specific business
decision or other action by the Caremark directors. At best, plaintiffs plead that the
various Caremark directors knew or must have known the alleged wrongs and failed to
take action. (See 3d Amend. Comp. § 88-90). However, there are no particularized
allegations that the Board or any of the Director Defendants actually knew of the alleged
misconduct. Nor are there any well-pleaded allegations that the Director Defendants
knew that the alleged misconduct was illegal.® Indeed, there is no allegation in the Third
Amended Complaint that any of the alleged misconduct has ever been determined to be
illegal.

The Third Amended Complaint presents the prototypical example of directors who
are sued derivatively "because they have failed to do something (such as a failure to

oversee subordinates).” Rales, 634 A.2d at 934 n.9. Accordingly, Rales dictates that the

sole inquiry for the Court is whether the Caremark board could have properly exercised

*The alleged improprieties occurred within a discrete business group which, as noted
above, generated only 18.2% of the Company's revenues and posted a $6 million pre-tax
loss in fiscal 1994. Plaintiffs' allegations should be considered in that context. See
Levine v, Smith, Del. Ch., C.A. No. 8833, slip op. at 22, Jacobs, V.C. (Nov. 27,
1989), aff'd, Del. Supr., 591 A.2d 194 (1991) ("Corporate directors normally have only
limited available time to deliberate, and a determination of what matters will (and will
not) be considered must necessarily fall within the board's discretion"); see also Manning,

The Business Judgment Rule And The Directors' Duty Of Attention: A Time For
Reality, 39 Bus. Law, 1477, 1485 (1984).
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its independent and disinterested business judgment in responding to a demand by
plaintiffs,

B. Plaintiffs Fail To Allege Particularized Facts Creating A Reasonable Doubt
That A Majority Of The Director Defendants Have A Disqualifying
Interest Regarding The Matters Alleged In The Third Amended
Complaint,

Rales essentially requires application of the first prong of the Aronson test by

inquiring whether the complaint demonstrates through particularized allegations that a pre-
suit demand would have been futile due to the disqualifying interests or lack of
independence of a majority of the directors at the time the suit was filed. (See DOB 27
& n. 10). Under established precedent, a director is "interested" where he or she
receives a personal financial benefit not shared equally with the stockholders or where the
decision will detrimentally impact the directors but not the corporation and its

stockholders. See, e.g., Rales, 634 A.2d at 936; Pogostin v. Rice, Del. Supr., 480 A.2d

619, 626 (1984); Aronson, 473 A.2d at 812.

Plaintiffs’ demand excusal allegations in the Third Amended Complaint fall into
three general categories: (i) that the Director Defendants affirmatively facilitated or
approved of the alleged wrongs, (ii) that the Director Defendants permitted the underlying
wrongs to continue and failed to take remedial action, and (iii) that the Director
Defendants would be required to sue themselves and face the substantial likelihood of

liability.” While plaintiffs attempt in their brief to distinguish the defendants' authorities

*The Third Amended Complaint resuscitates an allegation contained in the original
complaint (but deleted from the Second Amended Complaint) that each of the Director
Defendants receives from Caremark an annual retainer of $33,000 which may be paid in

(continued...)
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rejecting the "approval" and "failure to take action" allegations as a basis to excuse
demand, the plaintiffs do not affirmatively argue that such allegations excuse demand.
(PAB 29-32). Instead, plaintiffs' sole argument is that, because the Director Defendants
"intentionally or recklessly” allowed the alleged wrongs to continue and consciously failed
to take corrective action (3d Amend. Comp. {91), the Director Defendants' inaction "is
sufficiently egregious to establish a substantial likelihood that [the Director Defendants]
could be held liable for their conduct.” (PAB 24).

The parties agree that, under Graham v. Allis-Chalmers Mfg. Co., Del. Supr.,

188 A.2d 125, 130 (1963), directors may be liable for losses to the corporation if they
ignore "either willfully or through inattention obvious danger signs of employee
wrongdoing.” (See PAB 22-23). Furthermore, plaintiffs do not dispute the specification
in Rales that, in order to excuse demand for a "failure of oversight" allegation, plaintiffs
must set forth particularized allegations demonstrating a "substantial likelihood" of

director liability. Accord Seminaris, slip op. at 10. Thus, as the Court recognized in

Baxter Int'l, Inc. Shareholders Litig., Del. Ch., 654 A.2d 1268 (1995), demand will be

’(...continued)

the form of options to purchase Caremark stock. (3d Amend. Comp. § 15). The ten
non-officer Director Defendants have elected through the 1998 annual meeting of the
Caremark stockholders to receive their directors' fees in the form of Caremark stock
options. (Id.) Plaintiffs allege that these options give the Director Defendants "a strong
incentive to encourage short-term earnings from the illegal conduct”. (Id.) For the
reasons set forth in defendants’ opening brief in support of their motion to dismiss the
first amended complaint, the receipt by the Director Defendants from Caremark of
ordinary compensation for their services as directors does not establish a disqualifying
interest. (See Dkt. 8, pp. 28-29). Plaintiffs effectively concede the point by failing to
address the issue in their answering brief in opposition to defendants' motion to dismiss
the Second Amended Complaint.
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excused in a "lack of oversight" case only if the complaint pleads "... with particularity
what obvious danger signs were ignored or what additional measures the directors should
have taken." 654 A.2d at 1271. Accord Seminaris, slip op. at 10 (demand will be
excused in a director oversight case only if plaintiffs allege with particularitf that the
director defendants were grossly negligent in failing to supervise their subordinates).

1. Plaintiffs Have Failed To Specify Any Waming Signs Which

Should Have Alerted The Caremark Directors To Illegal Activities
By The Company's Employees.

Plaintiffs rely upon the ultimate bootstrap argument to allege that the commence-
ment of the OIG Investigation in 1991, the Minnesota Indictment in 1994, the Ohio
Indictment in 1994, several civil lawsuits in 1994 and the totally unrelated FTC
Investigation in 1994 demonstrate that the Director Defendants "intentionally or
recklessly"” permitted Caremark to engage in "illegal activities on a nationwide basis after
the November 1992 spin-off until at least 1994." (3d Amend. Comp. § 35). Plaintiffs’

core allegation is a non sequitur because the mere commencement of these proceedings

certainly does not demonstrate that any illegal conduct ever occurred, that the Director
Defendants even knew about any of the supposedly illegal practices, or that the activities
occurred "on a nationwide basis." Furthermore, the commencement of these proceedings
is entirely irrelevant to the pending question: whether the Third Amended Complaint
identifies specific facts which should have placed the Director Defendants on notice that
Caremark employees had engaged in improper activities. The allegations of the Third

Amended Complaint demonstrate that the answer to this question is no.
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Plaintiffs' latest complaint fails to identify any "red flags" which should have
alerted the Director Defendants to the Company's supposedly illegal payment practices.
Following the commencement of the OIG Investigation in August 1991, Caremark issued
a series of statements by the Company's president and other representatives that the
Company's payment practices complied with the law. (See 3d Amend. Comp. 1§ 24-25;
Exs. B, C, D). The October 1993 disclosure by Caremark's CEQ that the government
investigations were continuing confirms that no finding of civil or criminal misconduct
had been made in the more than two years following the commencement of the OIG
Investigation. The acknowledgement by Caremark in its SEC filings since November
1992 of the existence and potentially adverse consequences of the OIG Investigation was
mandated by the federal securities laws and certainly cannot be deemed, as plaintiffs
suggest, to demonstrate that the Director Defendants were "fully aware" that the
Company had engaged in "widespread illegal practices.” (3d Amend. Comp. {9 28-30,
32-34)." Contrary to plaintiffs' allegation that the Director Defendants consciously
allowed illegal payment practices to continue, the record demonstrates that the Caremark
Board had no basis whatsoever to conclude, on the basis of the commencement and
continuation of the OIG Investigation, that "illegal kickback arrangements were the

'modus operandi' of Caremark." (See 3d Amend. Comp. § 2).

“Curiously, plaintiffs now assert that Caremark's supposedly illegal payment practices
ended by no later than "late-1994." (3d Amend. Comp. { 35). Plaintiffs naturally fail
* to specify in their latest complaint how, when or why the supposed "illegal activities"
were stopped.
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Plaintiffs assert that a "red flag" was raised by the October 1993 public disclosure
of the payments by Caremark to certain doctors at the University of Minnesota Hospital.
(3d Amend. Comp. §936-41). Plaintiffs conveniently failed to inform the Court of the
contemporaneous, eleven-page statement by the University of Minnesota regarding the
compliance by the joint venture with all applicable laws. (Ex. H). Furthermore,
plaintiffs acknowledge that a recently completed audit by the University of Minnesota
failed to determine that Caremark's payment practices were improper. (3d Amend.
Comp. § 42). Thus, it is impossible to understand how the Director Defendants should
have concluded in October 1993, on the basis of a press report regarding the Minnesota
Joint Venture, that Caremark was involved in an "illegal kickback scheme" at the
University of Minnesota Hospital. (See 3d Amend. Comp. § 40).

Plaintiffs further assert that the Director Defendants should have viewed as a "red
flag" the 1993 alleged expansion of the OIG Investigation in 1993 to address the
Company's marketing préctices for a drug manufactured by Genentech, Inc. (3d Amend.
Comp. § 43). Plaintiffs offer no allegation as to when the Caremark or the Director
Detfendants supposedly learned about the expansion of the OIG Investigation. Once
again, therefore, plaintiffs offer nothing to support their conclusion that, standing alone,
the alleged expansion of the OIG Investigation somehow shows that the Director
Defendants “consciously allowed and facilitated the continuation of Caremark's
widespread illegal practices...." (3d Amend. Comp. § 44).

Plaintiffs also suggest that a "red flag" should have been evident to the Director

Defendants by virtue of the commencement in April 1994 of the Atlanta Lawsuit by an
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AIDS patient. As usual, plaintiffs have not alleged that the Director Defendants were
informed about the Atlanta Lawsuit. Furthermore, the mere filing of a lawsuit (and
particularly one of this nature) provides no basis for the directors of a $2 billion company
to conclude that its employees were engaged in a nationwide scheme of criminal conduct.
(See 3d Amend. Comp. {59). Plaintiffs also defy logic by suggesting that an April 1994
lawsuit somehow is evidence of the Director Defendants' failure to observe warning
signals in 1992 or 1993 of improper activities by Caremark employees.

The Minnesota Indictment and the Ohio Indictment, which respectively were
disclosed on August 4, 1994 and September 20, 1994, certainly cannot be viewed as "red
flags" which demonstrate that the Director Defendants deliberately ignored misconduct
by Caremark employees. The Company's immediate response to the Minnesota
Indictment was to deny liability (Ex. F), and neither Caremark nor any of its employees
were named in the Ohio Indictment. (3d Amend. Comp. Y 54-56). In any event, the

simple commencement in August and September 1994 of criminal proceedings obviously

does not support the contention that the Director Defendants deliberately ignored
misconduct at an earlier time.

Finally, plaintiffs certainly cannot rely upon the November 18, 1994 disclosure
of the Detroit Investigation, the November 26, 1994 disclosure of the (unrelated) FTC
Investigation or the February 23, 1995 story on "PrimeTime Live" to suggest that the
Director Defendants should have realized in 1992 or 1993 that Caremark was engaged
in illegal practices. Since plaintiffs state that Caremark ceased its supposedly improper

activities by no later than "late-1994" (3d Amend. Comp. { 35), all three of these
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disclosures are simply irrelevant to plaintiffs' contention that the Director Defendants
consciously determined in prior years to allow improper activities to continue.

2. Prior Decisions Demonstrate That Plaintiffs' Demand Excused
Allegations Are Inadequate.

Plaintiffs' bare allegations fall woefully short of demonstrating with particularity
that this is the rare case in which the asserted failure of the directors to oversee the
actions of the Company's employees is so egregious that a "substantial likelihood" of
director liability exists. Here, of course, plaintiffs only point to investigations and the
commencement of legal proceedings against a handful of Caremark employees which do
not involve any of the Director Defendants. Not surprisingly, plaintiffs fail completely
to address the cases in which demand was required despite the existence of actual criminal
conduct by employees, one or more of the directors or the corporation itself,

In In re E. F. Hutton Banking Practices Litigation, 634 F. Supp. 265, 267
(S.D.N.Y. 1986), demand was not excused on the directors of E. F. Hutton even though
the company pled guilty to over 2,000 counts of mail and wire fraud resulting in a $2
million fine and the requirement that E. F. Hutton establish an $8,750,000 fund to pay
for related costs (including the cost of government prosecution). As here, plaintiffs in
E, F. Hutton filed a derivative action claiming that the directors "knew or should have
known" of the existence of the overdrafting schemes which gave rise to the mail and wire
fraud charges. In rejecting their demand excusal claim, the Court stated that plaintiffs
"must go further than alleging passive acquiescence in the challenged conduct and
potential liability on behalf of some directors." Rather, a complaint "must contain

specific allegations of self-dealing or bias on the part of a majority of the board":
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No doubt there has been considerable wrongdoing at E. F. Hutton. No
doubt plaintiffs have alleged that certain defendants probably encouraged
and participated in such wrongdoing. However, they have failed to allege
sufficient involvement on the part of a majority of Hutton's board to
overcome the 'strong policy and practical advantages favoring exhaustion
of intracorporate remedies’'.

634 F. Supp. 272 (citation omitted). In contrast to E, F. Hutton, none of Caremark's
employees have been found guilty of anything and, even if they had been, there is no
suggestion in the Third Amended Complaint that even one of the Director Defendants was

involved in any way in the purported wrongdoing.

Similarly, in Mozes v. Welch, 638 E. Supp. 215 (D. Conn. 1986), plaintiffs filed
a derivative action against the directors of General Electric Corporation ("GE") after GE
pled guilty to 104 counts of making false statements to a government agency and 4 counts
of presenting false labor claims. As here, plaintiffs alleged that the GE directors had
been aware of, participated in, acquiesced in and approved of the wrongs which
occasioned the guilty pleas. The Court held that demand was not excused:

Nowhere has [plaintiff] made sufficiently particular allegations of

participation, self-dealing, bias, bad faith, corrupt motive or the like in

reference to a board majority. She has alleged no facts from which the

court could conclude that a majority of individual defendants have any

interest adverse or antagonistic to G.E.
638 F. Supp. 220. Since the claims against the Caremark directors pale in comparison
to the allegations against the GE directors, the Court should conclude that plaintiffs have
failed to raise particularized allegations showing that Director Defendants have any

interest adverse or antagonistic to Caremark.

Lewis v. Fites, Del. Ch., C.A. No. 12566, Berger, V.C. (Feb. 18, 1993), is

directly applicable. In Fites, the Court rejected plaintiff's claim that a heightened threat
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of personal liability created a reasonable doubt as to the disinterestedness of Caterpillar's
directors, even though Caterpillar had admitted that certain of the company's public
statements had violated the disclosure requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, Slip op. at 4, 6. Recognizing that the Consent Order admitting Caterpillar's
wrongdoing did not contain any admission of wrongdoing or findings conceming the
activities of the Caterpillar directors in the false public statements, the Court found that
demand was required and dismissed the complaint. Since the Caremark directors are in
the same position as the Caterpillar directors, there is no reason to deviate from the
recognition in Fites that plaintiffs’ "lack of oversight" allegations require a pre-suit
demand.

In Allison v, General Motors, 604 F. Supp. 1106 (D. Del.), aff'd, 782 F.2d 1026
(3rd Cir. 1985), plaintiffs' derivative action was based on alleged breach of duties by the
GM board arising from their permitting the production and sale of defective X-cars in
1979 and 1980 which allegedly resulted in numerous accidents, over fifty lawsuits against
GM (one of which resuited in a verdict against GM in excess of $5 million), two recalls
of thousands of cars and a suit by the National Highway Transportation Safety
Administration to force the recall of 1.1 million X-cars, and the payment by GM to the
federal government of a civil penalty in excess of $4 million. 604 F. Supp. at 1111. The
District Court, per Judge Schwartz, held that demand was not excused because the
plaintiff had failed to explain why the GM board would be disabled from assuming
control of the litigation. Id. at 1113. The District Court speqiﬁcally held that the GM

directors' participation in an administrative investigation and defense of a government
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agency lawsuit is insufficient to establish futility of demand. Id." The Caremark
directors are in no different position than the GM directors regarding plaintiffs’ abdication
allegations.

Finally, in Seminaris, plaintiff alleged that a pre-suit demand was excused due to
the alleged failure of the defendant directors to oversee the public disclosures by its
company's former CEQO and other employees regarding the company's financial prospects.
Applying Rales, the Court rejected plaintiff's conclusory claim that the director
defendants faced a "substantial likelihood of liability" since plaintiff had failed to plead
particularized facts demonstrating that the defendant directors had been grossly negligent
in failing to supervise subordinates. Seminaris, slip op. at 10. Although plaintiff alleged
that the directors "looked the other way" and failed to prevent the employees' conspiracy
to inflate the company's stock price, the Court found that pre-suit demand was not
excused because the allegations did not describe such "egregious conduct” that the
directors faced a substantial risk of liability due to their failure to prevent the CEQO's
misrepresentations. Furthermore, despite the directors' role as defendants in federal
securities litigation and as targets of a criminal investigation, the Court found that
plaintiff's "substantial likelihood of liability" argument was simply "a slightly aitered
version of the discredited refrain -- "you can't expect directors to sue themselves.’" Slip

op. at 10-11.

"Plaintiffs assert that Allison is inapposite because plaintiff there brought suit against
only four of GM's twenty-six directors. (PB 30). Of course, the relevant inquiry is not
who plaintiff chooses to name as defendants, but rather whether the particularized facts
alleged create a reasonable doubt that a majority of the board is interested or not
independent,
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Ignoring the foregoing authorities, plaintiffs assert that Miller v. Loucks, No.

91 C 6539, 1992 WL 329313 (N.D, Ill. Nov. 5, 1992), supports their claim that this is
the rare case where the directors' alleged conduct is so egregious that director interest

exists. (PAB 25-26). Plaintiffs invite the Court to compare the facts of Miller, in which

demand was excused as futile, with the facts of In re Baxter Int'l., Inc. Shareholder

Litig., 654 A.2d 1268, in which demand was held to be required and the complaint
dismissed. (PAB 26). Defendants agree. The critical fact present in Miller -- and absent
in Baxter and the instant case -- is that the Miller complaint accused a majority of the

directors of being the "principal wrongdoers and beneficiaries of the wrongful acts at

issue.” WL 329313 at *24. Indeed, plaintiff in Miller alleged the following "litany of
the directors’ wrongful acts”: affiliation with alleged Syrian terrorists and anti-semites,
complicity and encouragement of a terrorist country, attempted construction of Syrian
intravenous fluid factory with chemical warfare capabilities, and bribery of Syrian
officials to remove Baxter from the blacklist. Id. at 8 (emphasis supplied). The District
Court found that demand was excused on the basis of the particular allegations against the
individual directors:

This Court assumes the veracity of these particular facts in the context of

a motion to dismiss. As a result, this Court finds that the alleged conduct

is so egregious on its face that it created a substantial fear of criminal or

civil liability in the board during pending Grand Jury investigations and,

thereby, rendered the entire 18-member board of directors incapable of
exercising valid business judgment at the time suit was filed.

The Third Amended Complaint is obviously distinguishable from the complaint

in Miller because, in this case, plaintiffs have failed to allege any affirmative wrongful
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acts by any of the Director Defendants. Indeed, contrary to the complaint in Miller, the
Third Amended Complaint fails to allege that any of the Director Defendants were
involved in any aspect of the purported wrongdoing. Plaintiffs in this case, as in Baxter
and Seminaris, only charge the directors with failing to oversee the practices of
employees who allegedly were violating government regulations. 654 A.2d at 1268. In
Baxter, the Court rejected plaintiffs' claim that their allegations suggested a substantial
likelihood of director liability:

The claim of director culpability in this case is conclusory. The complaint

does not include anything specific about the alleged scheme suggesting that

the directors must have known of it. Assuming that the directors were

aware of the VA's investigation, without a specific allegation to that effect,

the last event alleged before the proposed suspension was the letter of

April 1991 stating that corrective measures had been taken. Assuming,

further, that the improper practice continued, without an allegation that

wrongdoing was admitted or proven, the complaint does not plead with

particularity what obvious danger signs were ignored or what additional
measures the directors should have taken.

654 A.2d at 1271.

Plaintiffs purport to distinguish Baxter based upon their allegations "that the

Director Defendants knew about (i) the massive investigation targeting Caremark; (ii) the
existence of admittedly questionable arrangements with doctors that the Board admitted
were potentially illegal; and (iii) management's publicly announced commitment to change
Caremark's corporate policy" -demonstrate a “substantial likelihood" that the Director
Defendants will be held liable for breaching their obligations to Caremark. (PB 28).
However, the Third Amended Complaint makes no claim that any of the Director
Defendants has been indicted or is even under investigation in connection with the alleged

payment of illegal kickbacks. Moreover, plaintiffs offer no particularized allegations
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demonstrating that the Director Defendants were aware of the existence of any actual
wrongdoing.

Plaintiffs do not explain why the Director Defendants could not have relied from
1991-1994 on the consistent statements by the Company's employees that Caremark's
practices complied with applicable regulations. (E.g., 3d Amend. Comp. §94 24-26, 79-
80). In light of these public announcements, plaintiffs fall short of their obligations under
Rule 23.1 by continuing -- for the fourth time -- their failure to plead with particularity
what the Director Defendants knew or what obvious danger signs the Director Defendants
purportedly ignored. Moreover, as in Baxter and Seminaris, no wrongdoing has been
admitted or proven and plaintiffs' complaint fails to specify what additional measures (if
any) the Director Defendants should have taken. In these circumstances, the decisions

by this Court in Baxter and Seminaris, rather than the Illinois Court's decision in Miller,

constitute the guiding precedent.

C. Plaintiffs’ Argument That Defendants' Conduct Was Not The Product Of
A Valid Business Judgment Is Inappropriate And Meritless.

In an effort to evade their failure to comply with the stringent pleading

requirements under Rales where there is no director decision under attack, plaintiffs assert
that the Director Defendants’ reckless or intentional disregard of the purported
wrongdoing "could not have been the product of a valid business judgment.” (See PB
22-24). Plaintiffs seek to justify demand excusal under the second prong of Aronson,
which recognizes:

[IIn rare cases a transaction may be so egregious on its face that board

approval cannot meet the test of business judgment, and a substantial
likelihood of director liability therefore exists.
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Aronson, 473 A.2d at 815 (citations omitted). However, even were the Court to accept
plaintiffs' hypothetical by assuming that the Director Defendants made a business decision

which could be reviewed under Aronson, nothing in the Third Amended Complaint

suggests that the Court would disregard the judgment of the disinterested Director
Defendants.

Even plaintiffs’ authority indicates that the second prong of Aronson is directed

to "extreme cases" and that the test employed by the Court "is thus necessarily high,

similar to the legal test for waste." Kahn v. Tremont Corp., Del. Ch., C.A. No. 12339,

slip op. at 16, Allen, C. (Apr.21, 1994, revised Apr. 22, 1994). Waste exists only when
the benefit received by the corporation is so inadequate that no person of ordinary, sound
business judgment would deem it worth what the corporation has paid. Id. quoting Saxe
v. Brady, Del. Ch., 184 A.2d 602, 610 (1962). Thus, plaintiffs ask the Court (i) to
assume (without any specific supporting allegations) that the Director Defendants made
a conscious decision to refrain from initiating steps to correct the illegal activities of
certain Caremark employees, and (ii) to predict that, based on the threadbare allegations
of the Third Amended Complaint, no person of ordinary, sound business judgment would
have made that decision based upon the facts known to the Director Defendants,

Plaintiffs do not come close to meeting this standard.

“As plaintiffs recognize, the business judgment rule is a presumption that directors
act in good faith and on an informed basis. (PAB 21-22). If the facts alleged in the
Third Amended Complaint, though presumed true, allow the reasonable possibility that
the Director Defendants’ (assumed) decisions were made in good faith and on an
informed basis, the Court should conclude that plaintiffs' allegations fail the second-prong
of the Aronson test for demand excusal. Plaintiffs have the obligation of alleging

(continued...)
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The Third Amended Complaint completely fails to particularize what the Director
Defendants knew in respect of the purported misconduct. The only allegations regarding
the Director Defendants' knowledge of any of the purported wrongdoing involve (i) the
August 9, 1991 OIG subpoenas and notification to Caremark of the OIG investigation,
(ii) public statements by the Company and its officers denying any wrongdoing in
connection with the OIG investigation, and (iii) the Company's public statements during
1992-1994 regarding the potentially adverse effect of any findings of illegal conduct, the
Company's guidelines against illegal conduct, and the corrective measures undertaken by
the Company's management. (See 3d Amend. Comp. 1Y 21-34 and, supra, pp. 13-13).
There are no allegations that the Director Defendants were aware of any of the other
instances of purported misconduct cited by plaintiffs., At best, therefore, the issue is
reduced to whether no person of ordinary, sound business judgment would have done
what the Director Defendants are charged with doing.

There are, of course, many plausible business explanations for not taking any

additional action in response to the OIG investigation. For one, there has never been any

(...continued)

particularized facts inconsistent with the presumably proper exercise of business judgment
by the Director Defendants. See, e.g., Grobow v. Perot, Del. Supr., 539 A.2d 180, 191
(1988) (listing factors which plaintiffs had failed to allege in support of due care
allegations); Caruana v. Saligman, Del. Ch., C.A. No. 11135, slip op. at 8-9, Chandler,
V.C. (Dec. 21, 1990) (explaining that plaintiffs' allegations were conclusory "in light of
the allegations that had not been made"); see also Cottle v. Standard Brands Paint Co.,
Del. Ch., C.A. Nos. 9342, 9405, slip op. at 20, Berger, V.C. (Mar. 22, 1990) (Court
assumes valid corporate purpose over competing entrenchment claim); Lewis v.
Honeywell Inc., Del. Ch., C.A. No. 8651, slip op. at 10, Jacobs, V.C. (July 28, 1987)
(dismissing due care claim where well-pleaded facts left open possibility that directors had
been informed).
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determination by the OIG or anyone else that Caremark's business practices were illegal.
Certainly, a rational director could act within the realm of business judgment by
authorizing the company to continue to operate, in an apparently lawful manner, under
the clouded regulatory environment created by the government's failure to articulate
precise standards for payments to doctors delivering medical services to infusion patients.
Any such determination by the Director Defendants certainly would have been entirely
justifiable based upon their apparent understanding from public statements by Caremark's
senior officer that the Company's activities complied with the law. Even assuming that
certain Caremark employees were engaged in wrongdoing, the Board reasonably could
have determined that the adverse publicity and costs of instituting legal actions against the
wrongdoers would outweigh the benefits of such an action, particularly inasmuch as the
Company had announced in 1991 that it had terminated the practices which had
occasioned the OIG investigation. (3d Amend. Comp. §9 25-26).

This same reasoning applies even if the Court assumes the existence of
particularized allegations demonstrating that the Director Defendants were intimately
familiar with the details of each of the instances of purported misconduct cited by
plaintiffs. Since there has been no finding that any Cargmark employee committed any
illegal act, a disinterested board legitimately could conclude that the course of action
Caremark allegedly followed (not instituting suit, announcing compliance with applicable
regulations and selling the home infusion business) would be preferable from a business
standpoint to initiating costly, time consuming and distracting litigation against

Caremark's employees and third parties. Furthermore, even if the plaintiff-specified in
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the Third Amended Complaint that the Director Defendants had actual knowledge of the
acts by certain Caremark employees and that the Director Defendants had actual
knowledge that those acts were illegal, demand still would not be excused. See E. F.
Hutton, 634 F. Supp. at 271 (explaining that demand would have been excused "even if
we assume that the board had formally ratified the challenged conduct" where the
“challenged conduct" resulted in a guilty plea to 2,000 counts of mail and wire fraud).

Plaintiffs merely have asserted conclusions of wrongful behavior by the Director
Defendants based upon plaintiffs' assumptions about the still-unproven charges against
certain Caremark employees. This is insufficient in a business judgment rule analysis
because, as noted above, if there are two possible bases for the alleged actions, one

constituting a breach of duty and one constituting a proper exercise of business judgment,

the latter is presumed. See Cottle v. Standard Brands Paint Co., slip op. at 20, Plaintifts

here have failed to plead particularized facts sufficient to overcome the presumption of
the business judgment rule by pleading facts which would gliminate the possibility that
the Board properly exercised its business judgment.

Plaintiffs cite two cases in support of their "egregious business judgment"

argument: Graham v. Allis-Chalmers Manuf, Co., Del. Supr., 188 A.2d 125 (1963) and

Freedman v. Braddock, N.Y. Supr. Ct., Nos. 24708/92, 25968/92, Sherman, J.

(May 17, 1993) (ORDER), aff'd, N.Y.A.D., 609 N.Y.S.2d 777 (1994). Allis-Chalmers
was a decision after trial absolving the Allis-Chalmers directors of any liability for the
activities of certain employees which violated the federal antitrust laws, As here,

plaintiffs in Allis-Chalmers alleged that the directors knew or should have known of the
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illegal activities by a handful of employees in a company with $500 million in annual
sales. In rejecting plaintiffs' claims, the Delaware Supreme Court stated:

The duties of the Allis-Chalmers Directors were fixed by the nature of the

enterprise which employed in excess of 30,000 persons, and extended over

a large geographical area. By force of necessity, the company's Directors

could not know personally all the company's employees. The very

magnitude of the enterprise required them to confine their control to the

broad policy decisions.
188 A.2d at 130. Like Allis-Chalmers, Caremark is a large, far-flung enterprise, with
annual sales exceeding $2.4 billion and over 9,000 employees scattered throughout the
fifty states, Puerto Rico and six foreign countries. (3d Amend. Comp. § 16; Caremark
1994 Form 10-K, p. 8). The size of Caremark's operations and the paucity of
particularized allegations demonstrating any knowledge by the Director Defendants of the
purported wrongdoing refute any notion that the business judgment rule (had a business
decision been made) would be inapplicable.

Plaintiffs' other anthority, Freedman v. Braddock, is completely uninstructive.
The opinion by a New York trial court presents no analysis of the particularized
allegations of the complaint at issue and ignores well-known Delaware precedent rejecting
many of the conclusory allegations of demand futility advanced by the Freedman
plaintiffs. See slip op. at 3-4,

In sum, attempting to apply a business judgment analysis to the facts of the Third

Amended Complaint demonstrates the inapplicability of the second prong of Aronson to

the present case. The factual predicate for plaintiffs’ egregious business judgment claim
-- "that the Director Defendants intentionally or recklessly 'shut their eyes' to widespread

misconduct, even though they knew that such misconduct could lead to materially adverse
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consequences to Caremark's business" (PB 24) -- is completely unsupported by any
particularized facts. Just as there is no "substantial likelihood" under Rales that the
Director Defendants face personal liability exposure, plaintiffs have failed to create any
question -- must less the requisite reasonable doubt -- as to the application of the business

Judgment rule to any (assumed) deciston by the Caremark Board.
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18 THE THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT FAILS TO STATE A CLAIM IN
VIEW OF CAREMARK'S SECTION 102(b)}(7) CHARTER PROVISION.

Plaintiffs do not dispute that Caremark's Section 102(b)(7) charter provision
eliminates monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty by the Director Defendants
unless expressly excepted from coverage. The dispute here concerns the exception "for
acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing
violation of law." 8 Del. C. § 102(b)(7). Plaintiffs claim that Section 102(b)(7) does not
exempt directors from liability for "acts which are intentional or reckless" (PAB 33;
emphasis added). None of the cases cited by plaintiffs support their proposed revision
of Section 102(b)(7) to subject directors to personal liability for reckless conduct."

Plaintiffs’ motive for excluding reckless conduct from Section 102(b)(7) protection
is obvious. While plaintiffs state in their brief that the Third Amended Complaint details
"defendants' bad faith, and intentional and knowing conduct” (PAB 34), their actual
pleading is much more circumspect. Plaintiffs are willing to plead only that the Director
Defendants acted "intentionally or recklessly." Perhaps mindful of their Rule 11

obligations, plaintiffs are unwilling to allege flatly in the Third Amended Complaint either

“The cases cited by plaintiffs, Kahn v. Roberts, Del. Ch., C.A, No. 12324, slip
op. at 19, Hartnett, V.C. (Feb. 28, 1994); Baxter Int'l Inc. Shareholders Litig., 654
A.2d at 1270 and Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Bolger, 2 F.3d 1304, 1312 (3d Cir. 1993),
all confine their Section 102(b)(7) analysis to the exceptions specifically enumerated in
the statute. Plaintiffs' other authority, Freedman v. Braddock, slip op. at 8, is
inconsistent with Dataproducts in that the New York court declined to dismiss the
complaint, despite the presence of a Section 102(b)(7) provision, because of (unspeci-
fied) alleged conduct "which arguably fall [sic] within the exception" of the subject
charter provision.
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that the Director Defendants engaged in intentional misconduct or were acting in bad
faith.

This Court has rejected a similar effort by a plaintiff to use a "pleading in the
alternative” strategy to escape the claim preclusive effect of a Section 102(b)}(7) charter

provision. In In re Dataproducts Corp. Shareholders Litig., Del. Ch., C.A. No. 11164,

Jacobs, V.C. (Aug. 22, 1991), defendants sought to dismiss, pursuant to Chancery Court
Rule 12(b)(6), a claim that the Dataproducts directors improperly timed the announcement
of a proposed merger to occur before favorable third and fourth quarter financial results
were disclosed. Slip op. at 9. Like plaintiffs here, plaintiffs in Dataproducts alleged that
the Détaproducts directors knew that management was manipulating the timing of the
disclosures yet acquiesced in their actions. (Id. at 10). The Court held that plaintiffs'
"abdication" claim against the directors was barred in light of the Section 102(b)(7)
provision in the Dataproducts charter:

The plaintiffs contend that the directors' abdication of their oversight

obligations in favor of Mr. Davis were acts that were 'not in good faith'

and that constituted "intentional misconduct” within the meaning of Article
FIFTEENTH.

I disagree, because the complaint does not fairly allege facts supportive of
the plaintiffs' abdication theory. Not even inferentially does it suggest the
directors acted in bad faith or with intent to allow the shareholders to be
harmed. For that reason and because the "director abdication" claim is

equally consistent with director gross negligence as with conduct that was
intentional or in bad faith, the plaintiffs have failed to establish that their
timing claim is not precluded by Article FIFTEENTH of the certificate of
incorporation.

Slip op. at 11-12 (emphasis added).
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Here, as in Dataproducts, plaintiffs' ."intentionally or recklessly" claims are
likewise "equally consistent with gross negligence as with conduct that is intentional or
in bad faith" and are likewise barred by a Section 102(b)(7) charter provision. Plaintiffs
make no attempt in their answering brief to distinguish Dataproducts. (See PAB 33-35).
Plaintiffs’ allegations also are barred by the Section 102(b)(7) provision in the Caremark
charter because the Third Amended Comi)laint offers no particularized allegations of fact
to support plaintiffs' conclusions that the Director Defendants "intentionally or recklessly
allowed the alleged wrongdoing to continue”. See Weinberger v. UOP, Inc,, Del. Ch.,
409 A.2d 1262, 1264 (1979) (Rule 12(b)(6) motion "does not concede pleaded
conclusions of law or fact where there are no allegations of specific facts which would
support such conclusions"); Solomon v. Pathe Communications Corp., Del. Ch., C.A.
No. 12563, slip op. at 11-12, 16, Allen, C., (Apr. 21, 1995) (in class and derivative
litigation the "court cannot be satisfied with mere conclusions, as it might, for example,
in an auto-accident case, because in this sort of litigation the risk of strike suits means
that too much turns on the mere survival of the complaint"). Accordingly, plaintiffs'

claims for money damages should be dismissed.
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CONCLUSION
For all of the foregoing reasons, defendants respectfully request that the Court

dismiss with prejudice the Third Amended Complaint pursuant to Chancery Court Rules

12(b)(6) and 23.1.
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PART1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

Geperal

Caremark International Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Caremark”), was incorporated in August 1992
as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Baxter International Inc. (“Baxter’”). On November 30, 1992, Baxter
distributed (the “Distribution’) to the holders of Baxter common stock all of the outstanding shares of
common stock, $1.00 par value per share, of Caremark (the “Common Stock”), together with associated
preferred stock purchase rights (the “Rights”; references herein to Common Stock shall be deemed to include
a reference to the associated Rights).

Caremark provides a broad array of patient services through health care networks specializing in
managed care, with operations in the United States and overseas. Caremark’s Physician Practice Management
segment provides management services to multi-specialty physician group practices. Caremark’s
Pharmaceutical Services segment provides pharmacy benefit management services through mail order and
retail pharmacy service networks, formulary management, medical data management and outcomes research.
Caremark’s Disease State Management segment includes: hemophilia and immune deficiency services;
distribution of human growth hormone; services to schizophrenic patients; nephrology services; orthopedic
services; and oncology services, Caremark’s International segment provides certain alternate site health care
services in several European countries, Canada, Puerto Rico and Japan.

In January 1995, Caremark entered into a definitive agreement to sell its home infusion business to
Coram Healthcare Corporation (“Coram”). Under the agreement, Caremark will receive $310 million in cash
and securities, subject to certain adjustments, in exchange for the assets of its home infusion business, which
includes home IV infusion therapy, women’s health services and the Home Care Management Syster. The
sale of the home infusion business is subject to government review under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act and
other conditions.

In February 1995, Caremark entered into a definitive agreement to sell its Clozaril® patient management
system business to Health Management, Inc. (“HMI") for approximately $34 million in cash and notes. The
sale of the Clozaril® patient management system business is subject to government approval under the Hart-
Scott-Rodino Act and other conditions.

Management believes that Caremark is strategically well-positioned, as a result of its expanding managed
care capabilities, to satisfy anticipated increased demand for lower cost, high quality health care services. In
the Physician Practice Management segment, Caremark’s growth strategy focuses on the provision of
comprehensive management services to physician groups, primarily multi-specialty physician practices. In
the Pharmaceutical Services segment, it focuses on the reduction of health care costs through the provision
of efficient drug benefit programs. Caremark’s strategy for growth within the Disease State Management and
International segments focuses on new technologies, services and therapies in an effort to make patient
services available for the treatment of varions medical conditions, as well as on geographic expansion into
selected markets that are not yet fully served.

Financial information concerning the net revenues, income before sundry and income taxes, identifiable
assets, depreciation and amortization and capital expenditures of Caremark’s operating segments is
incorporated by reference to Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operation, “Industry Segments,” appearing at pages 20 and 21 of Caremark’s Annual Report to Stockholders
for the year ended December 31, 1994.

To more closely paratlel Caremark’s business development strategy and internal operating structure, the
company reorganized its businesses during 1994 into five industry segments: Physician Practice Management,
Pharmaceutical Services, Disease State Management, International and Home Infusion. The company

1



previously utilized two reportable industry segments: Patient Care and Managed Care. Prior years' results
have been restated to conform with the new segment reporting presentation,

Physician Practice Management

In 1992, Caremark initiated a physician practice management business that provides comprehensive
management services to large multi-specialty medical group practices. Caremark is now one of the fastest
growing compaaies in this field, having affiliated with Houston’s Kelsey-Seybold Clinic, the Oklahoma City
Clinic, Atlanta Medical Associates and North Suburban Clinic in the Chicago area. The company expects to
complete its affiliation with Friendly Hills HealthCare Network in La Habra, California, in early 1995.
Physician Practice Management segment revenues accounted for 7.9% of Caremark’s total revenues in 1994,

Upon completion of the Friendly Hills affiliation, Caremark will serve some 600,000 patients, more than
half of whom will be enrollees in prepaid managed health care plans. These practices cover five major
metropolitan areas, include over 640 physicians and generate in excess of $425 million in annualized revenues,

Pharmacentical Services

Caremark manages outpatient prescription drug benefit programs for corporations, insurance companies,
unions, government empioyee groups and managed care organizations throughout the United States.
Prescription drug benefit administration involves the design and administration of programs for reducing the
costs and improving the safety, effectiveness and convenience of prescription drug benefits. Caremark’s
prescription drug benefit management business is the largest independent pharmacy benefit management
(“PBM”) network in the country. The company serves 29 million Americans through its PBM business,
dispensing more than 40,000 prescriptions daily from four mail-order facilities, The company also manages
patients’ immediate prescription needs through a network of 52,000 retail pharmacies. Caremark, through its
Continuum of Drug Cost Management™ program, offers a full range of drug cost and clinical management
services, including mail service, a national retail pharmacy network with electronic claims processing and
payment capabilities, prescription drug claims processing, drug utilization review, prescription drug data
management and reporting and an aggressive cost and clinical management program. During the first six
months of 1994, Caremark entered into multi-year agreements with four major pharmaceutical companies to
provide access to comprehensive pharmaceutical data and to develop medical protocols through outcomes
research. Pharmaceutical Services segment revenues accounted for 45.29% of Caremark’s total revenues in
1994.

Disease State Management

Caremark is establishing disease state networks and programs aimed at treating high-cost, chronic
diseases, such as hemophilia, kidney failure, HIV/AIDS, asthma and cancer. Caremark believes that these
programs can eventually provide for all of a patient’s health care needs and do so efficiently, using advanced
protocols and eliminating unnecessary procedural steps. Disease State Management segment revenues
accounted for 26.0% of Caremark’s total revenues in 1994,

Hemophilia and Immune Deficiency Services

Through its therapeutic services division, Caremark provides therapies and services to individuals
suffering from hemophilia, immune system deficiencies and other blood disorders characterized by protein
deficiencies. Products provided in such therapies include, among others, coagulation factor for the treatment
of hemophilia and immune globulin for the treatment of chronic immune system deficiencies. Many
hemophilia patients were exposed to the HIV virus as a result of the plasma derivative therapy they received
prior to the mid-1980’s and are at risk of developing AIDS. Caremark provides recombinant factor therapies
derived from non-piasma sources to mitigate exposure to the HIV virus.

2



As part of its HIV/AIDS disease state management program, Caremark operates a central data
collection system to collect and analyze HIV/AIDS treatments and outcomes data. Caremark coordinates
HIV/AIDS therapies that inciude: infusion therapies, aerosolized pentamidine, nutritional assessment,
counseling, support services and educational programs,

Nephrology Services

In 1993, Caremark’s nephrology services division was launched with the acquisition of the Regional
Kidney Disease Program (“RKDP”) in Minneapolis. This division provides a comprehensive range of
nephrology support services, including dialysis and aspheresis services and supplies, transplant and vascular
access support services, and laboratory services. In connection with the acquisition of RKDP, Caremark
acquired 23 dialysis centers in Wisconsin, Minnesota and South Dakota. In May 1994, Caremark acquired
an additional 5 dialysis facilities from Chabot Dialysis Clinic Inc., San Leandro Dialysis Clinic, Inc. and East

Growth Hormone Distribution

Caremark, pursuant to a distribution agreement with Genentech Inc., distributes recombinant growth
bormone marketed under the trade name Protropin®, Orphan drug status for Protropin® human growth
hormone and a therapeutic equivalent drug has expired. The approval by the Food and Drug Administration
(the “FDA") of generic equivalents for these drugs could have an adverse impact on Caremark’s sales of
Protropin® human growth hormone.

Clozaril® Patient Management System
Pursuant to service and distribution agreements with Sandoz Pharmaceuticals Corporation (“Sandoz”),

included blood testing, analysis and monitoring to detect adverse reactions to the Clozaril® schizophrenia
drug (clozapine) which Caremark distributes, as well as patient Tegistration and case coordination. In
addition, Caremark has maintained a nationwide database of clozapine users on behalf of Sandoz to monitor
patients’ responses to Clozaril®. The database agreement expired in September 1994. Clozaril® patient

As poted above, Caremark agreed in February 1995 to sell its Clozaril® patient management system
business to HMIL.

Orthopedic Services
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Oncology Services

Caremark provides management services to single specialty practices specializing in oncology and
currently provides such services to 11 medical oncology practices located in eight states. Through 1994,
Caremark operated free-standing ambulatory care centers for the outpatient treatment of specific long-term
diseases, particularly cancer. The centers provided a range of other services, including monitoring and
counseling. Therapies and products provided at the centers included chemotherapy, pain management
therapy, antiemetics, antimicrobials, kydration, blood and blood products.

Internationat

Caremark offers selected health care services outside hospitals in Canada, France, Germany, Japan, the
Netherlands, the United Kingdom and Puerto Rico. For example, Caremark operates two HIV centers in
Germany and is exploring additional center-based strategies in Europe. Caremark’s Japanese subsidiary is
providing enteral nutrition therapy and chemotherapy to patients in their homes. The specific therapies and
services offered in each country are tailored to respond to the identified needs of the health care providers
and patients in that country. Caremark believes increasing health care costs, an expanding population base
over age 65, advances in medical technology and the ability to provide improved quality of life are conditions
prevalent internationally that will foster growth of altermate site health care. Caremark is developing
prescription benefit management programs in Europe with initial focus in the Netherlands. Caremark believes
that these programs can provide cost effective alternatives to the current system of reimbursement for
outpatient drug therapy. Medical Card System, Inc. (“MCS"), which was established in 1982 in Puerto Rico,
has contracted for preferred rates among health care providers (hospitals, physicians, laboratories, dentists
and pharmacies), on both a preferred and an exclusive basis, on behalf of large employer groups and insurers.
MCS currently has contracts with every hospital and approximately 85% of the physicians in Puerto Rico.
MCS is a full service third party administrator as well as a provider of utilization management services.
International segment revenues accounted for 2.7% of Caremark’s total revenues in 1994.

Home Infasion

As noted above, Caremark agreed in January 1995 to sell its home infusion business to Coram.
Caremark’s Home Infusion segment offers alternate site infusion therapies that include: total parenteral
nutrition therapy (“TPN”-intravenous feeding for patients unable to ingest or absorb nutrients due to
gastrointestinal illnesses or conditions); enteral nutrition therapy (nutritional therapy administered to patients
who have at least partial digestive tract function); antibiotic, antiviral and antifungal therapies (therapies used
to treat a variety of complex infections and diseases, including bone infections and infections related to
HIV/AIDS); chemotherapy (the infusion of cancer-fighting drugs, biood product therapies and certain
biotechnology drugs for cancer patients); and pain management therapy (the administration of pain-
controlling drugs to terminally or chronically ill patients). Caremark’s home infusion therapy business also
includes women's health services and the Home Care Management System. Home Infusion segment revenues
accounted for 18.2% of Caremark’s total revenues in 1994.

Operations

Quality Assurance. Caremark maintains rigorous quality assurance policies and procedures. A focus on
employee training and the development of comprehensive manuals for and monitoring of pharmacy and
nursing operations help to maintain consistent and high quality care. Caremark’s clinical quality assurance
program provides for periodic reviews of Caremark’s health care professionals to confirm that applicable
licensure, certification and accreditation requirements are met and to maintain the consistency and
effectiveness of clinical practices. Caremark’s outcomes monitoring program involves the collection,
investigation, evaluation and reporting of results of treatments for Caremark patients with the aim of
maintaining and improving clinical procedures and services. All of Caremark’s home infusion branches for
which it has sought accreditation have been accredited by the Joint Commission on Accreditation of
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Healthcare Organizations (“JCAHO”), a non-profit, private organization that has established written
standards for health care organizations, including hospitals and alternate site health care providers.

Under Caremark’s pharmacentical services quality assurance program, a computerized order processing
system reviews each prescription order for a variety of potential concerns, including reactions with other
drugs known to be prescribed to that patient, reactions with a patient’s known allergies, duplication of
therapies, appropriateness of dosage and early refill requests that may indicate overutilization or fraud. Each
prescription is verified by a licensed pharmacist before shipment. Caremark has retained the services of a
pational advisory panel of physician specialists that advises it on the clinical analysis of its intervention
strategies and on cost-effective clinical procedures.

Sales and Marketing. Caremark employs over 175 full-time sales personnel, including specialized sales
groups for marketing to employers, insurance companies and other payors and for marketing prescription
services and therapy-specific products, such as hemophilia coagulation factor, intravenous immunoglobulin
and physical therapy services. Caremark’s Pharmaceutical Services segment markets its services to corporate
financial officers and health benefits managers, heaith benefits consultants and national third party payors.
Caremark’s marketing strategy emphasizes complete and responsive service to clients and their employees
and includes a strong focus on patient and provider education. An independent national advisory panel of
practicing physicians and pharmacists assists Caremark in formulating and validating clinical strategies used
in achieving a client organization’s drug benefit objectives.

Reimbursement. Caremark derives most of its Pharmaceutical Services segment revenues, Disease State
Management segment revenues, International segment revenues and Home Infusion segment revenues from
third party payors, including private insurers and, to a lesser extent, Medicare and Medicaid and workers’
compensation programs. Approximately 12% of Caremark’s 1994 revenues were directly attributable to
Medicare and Medicaid patients. Caremark accepts assignment of insurance benefits from patients and
receives reimbursement directly from third party payors. Caremark also provides services as a subcontractor
to hospitals or other aiternate site providers, including joint ventures formed by Caremark with hospitals,
nursing agenctes and other health care providers, that receive the assignment of benefits or reimbursement
from the patient and pay Caremark a negotiated fee. Caremark has contracted to provide physical therapy
services to more than 175 health maintenance organizations and preferred provider organizations serving
approximately 25 million people. Caremark’s Disease State Management and International segments are
subject to lengthy reimbursement periods as a result of third party payment practices which affect all health
care providers. Caremark has consistently managed its accounts receivable to minimize the length of such
periods and their effect on Caremark’s cash flow.

Competition

Caremark’s Physician Practice Management segment competes with several national physician practice
managers a5 well as health maintenance organizations, other payors and hospitals. Competition is based on
cost, service and financial stability.

Caremark’s Pharmaceutical Services segment competes on the basis of cost, service and the flexibility
and range of drug benefit pian design and management services offered. National prescription benefit drug
competitors include Merck & Co., Inc.’s Medeo Containment Services division, Eli Lilly and Company’s PCS
Health Systems and SmithKline Beecham P.L.C.’s Diversified Pharmaceutical Services. Caremark also
competes with many local and regional pharmacies and with other prescription drug benefit programs.
Caremark’s claims administration services, management reporting services and plan management programs
also compete with other prescription drug claims processors, regional claims processers, insurance companies
and Blue Cross/Blue Shicld plans.

In its Disease State Management, International and Home Infusion segments, Caremark competes with
inpatient providers, including hospitals and nursing homes, and with other aiternate site providers. Caremark
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competes on the basis of quality, service, cost and reputation among physicians, hospitals, patients and third
party payors.

Government Regunlation

Significant aspects of Caremark’s business are subject to state and federal statutes and regulations
governing the operation of pharmacies, repackaging of drug products, dispensing of controlled substances,
reimbursement under federal and state medical assistance programs, financial relationships between health
care providers and potential referral sources, medical waste disposal and workplace health and safety.
Caremark’s businesses may also be affected by changes in ethical guidelines and operating standards of
professional and trade associations and private accreditation commissions such as the American Medical
Association and JCAHO.

Pharmacy Licensing and Operation

Caremark operates mail service pharmacies in Florida, Illinois, Texas and Virginia as well as pharmacies
in states in which it provides infusion therapy, and comsequently is subject to federal and state laws and
regulations governing pharmacies. Federal controlied substance laws require Caremark to register its
pharmacies with the United States Drug Enforcement Administration and comply with security, record-
keeping, inventory control and labeling standards in order to dispense controlled substances. State controlled
substance laws require registration and compliance with the licensing, registration or permit standards of the
state pharmacy licensing authority. State pharmacy licensing, registration and permit iaws impose standards
on the qualifications of the applicant’s personnel, the adequacy of its prescription fulfillment and inventory
control practices and the adequacy of its facilities. In general, pharmacy licenses are remewed annually.
Pharmacists employed by each branch must also satisfy state licensing requirements.

Several states have enacted legislation that requires mail service pharmacies located elsewhere to register
with the state board of pharmacy prior to mailing drugs into the state and to meet certain operating and
disclosure requirements. These statutes generally permit a mail service pharmacy to operate in accordance
with the laws of the state in which it is located. In addition, various national and state pharmacy associations
and some boards of pharmacy have promoted enactment of laws and regulations directed at restricting or
prohibiting the services of mail service pharmacies by, among other things, requiring compliance with all
laws of the states into which the mail service pharmacy dispenses medications whether or not those laws
conflict with the laws of the state in which the pharmacy is located. To the extent that such laws or regulations
are found to be applicable to Caremark’s operations, Caremark would be required to comply with them. Some
states have enacted laws and regulations which, if successfully enforced, would effectively limit some of the
financial incentives available to plan sponsors that offer mail service prescription programs. With respect to
self-insured plans, the United States Department of Labor has commented that such laws and regulations are
pre-empted by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. The Attorney General in one state
has reached a similar conclusion and has raised additional constitutional issues. Finally, the Federal Trade
Commission’s Bureau of Competition has concluded that such laws and regulations may be anticompetitive
and not in the best interests of consumers. To date, there have been no formal administrative or judicial efforts
to enforce any of such laws against Caremark. To the extent that any of the foregoing laws or regulations
prohibit or restrict the operation of mail service pharmacies and are found to be applicable to Caremark,
they could have an adverse effect on Caremark’s prescription mail service operations. Approximately 90% of
prescriptions dispensed by Caremark are dispensed under self-insured plans. United States Postal Service
regulations expressly permit the transmission of prescription drugs through the postal system. The United
States Postal Service has authority to restrict such transmission.

Medicare Referral Laws

Caremark is subject to the laws and regulations that govern reimbursement under Medicare and
Medicaid. Effective January 1, 1995, Federal law prohibits, with some exceptions, an entity from filing a claim
for reimbursement under the Medicare or Medicaid programs for certain designated services if the entity has
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one of any specified financial relationships with the referring physician. Caremark has taken the significant,
voluntary step of not seeking reimbursement for such designated services even from payors other than
Medicare or Medicaid programs if it has such a financial relationship with the referring physician. Federal
law (the “Medicare Referral Payments Law™) also prohibits the solicitation or receipt of remuneration in
exchange for, or the offer or payment of remureration to induce, the referral of Medicare or Medicaid
beneficiaries. The Office of the Inspector General of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (the
“OIG") has promulgated regulatory “safe harbors,” subject to periodic change, under the Medicare Referral
Payments Law that describe payment practices between health care providers and referral sources that will
not be subject to criminal prosecution and that will not provide the basis for exclusion from the Medicare
and Medicaid programs. Caremark retains hospitals and health care professionals to provide services and
advice to Caremark in return for compensation pursuant to employment, consulting or service contracts.
Caremark also enters into contracts with hospitals under which Caremark provides administrative services
for a fee and enters into joint ventures with hospitals and other health care providers. Many of the parties
with whom Caremark contracts are in a position to or do refer patients to Caremark. The breadth of the
Medicare Referral Payments Law, the paucity of court decisions interpreting the Medicare Referral Payments
Law, the absence of regulatory interpretations until the adoption of applicable safe harbor regulations and
the absence of court decisions interpreting the safe harbor regulations have resulted in ambiguous and varying
interpretations of the Medicare Referral Payments Law. No assurance can be given that the OIG or the
United States Department of Justice will not seek a determination that Caremark’s past or current policies
and practices regarding contracts and relationships with health care providers violate the Medicare Referral
Payments Law and no assurance can be given that Caremark’s interpretation of these laws will prevail if
challenged. A determination that contracts and relationships entered into by Caremark violate the Medicare
Referral Payments Law could have a material adverse effect on the business of Carsmark.

State Referral Payment Laws

Caremark is also subject to state statutes and regulations that prohibit payments for referral of patients,
splitting of professional fees by physicians and referrals by physicians to health care providers with whom
the physicians have a financial relationship. State statutes and regulations generally apply to services
reimbursed by both governmental and private payors. Violations of these laws may result in prohibition of
payment for services rendered, loss of pharmacy or health provider licenses as well as fines and criminal
penalties. State statutes and regulations that may affect the referral of patients to health care providers range
from statutes and regulations which are substantially the same as the Federal Medicare Referral Payments
Law and the Federal safe harbor regulations to a simple requirement that physicians or other bealth care
professionals disclose to patients any financial relationship the physicians or health care professionals have
with a health care provider that is being recommended to the patients. These laws and regulations vary
significantly from state to state, are often vague and in many cases have not been interpreted by courts or
regulatory agencies. Caremark was not materially dependent upon revenues derived from any single state in
1994. However, adverse judicial or administrative interpretations of such laws in several states could, taken
together, have a material adverse effect on- the business of Caremark.

Future Legislation and Regulation

Legislative and regulatory initiatives relating to health care reimbursement, payment practices,
physician-investor referrals and other health care cost containment issues are frequently introduced at both
the state and federal level. Caremark is unable to predict whether or when legislation may be enacted or
regulations may be adopted relating to Caremark’s business or what the effect of such legislation or
reguiations may be.

Federal Trade Cammis.s'z'on Investigation

In December 1994, Caremark was notified by the Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) that it was
conducting a civil investigation of the industry concerning whether acquisitions, alliances, agreements or
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activities between pharmacy benefit managers and pharmaceutical manufacturers, including Caremark’s
alliance agreements with certain drug manufacturers, violate Sections 3 or 7 of the Clayton Act or Section §
of the Federal Trade Commission Act. The specific nature, scope, timing and outcome of the investigation
are not currently determinable. Under the statutes, if violations are found, the FTC could seek remedies in
the form of injunctive relief to set aside or modify Caremark’s alliance agreements and an order to cease and
desist from certain marketing practices and from entering into or continuing with certain types of agreements.

Employees

As of December 31, 1994, Caremark had approximately 9,150 employees (over 2,100 of which are full-
time home infusion employees). Management of Caremark considers its employee relations to be good.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES,

Caremark operates a network of more than 260 facilities, approximately 80 of which are home infusion
centers, providing services in 50 states, Puerto Rico and 6 countries internationally. Caremark hemophilia
products are distributed through its licensed pharmacy in Redlands, California. Immune globulin products
are distributed from both the Redlands facility and the Caremark branch network. Caremark currently
operates and manages 92 outpatient physical therapy facilities in 12 states, including 3 work centers
accredited for performing work hardening services by the Commission for Accreditation of Rehabilitation
Facilities. Caremark’s Physician Practice Management segment operates facilities of multi-specialty physician
practices in Texas, Oklahoma, Illinois, and Georgia. Caremark’s Pharmaceutical Services segment operates a
central claims administration center, an FDA registered prescription drug repackaging facility and licensed
mail service pharmacies located in Florida, Illinois, Texas and Virginia. Caremark’s nephrology division of
its Disease State Management segment operates dialysis facilities in Minnesota, Wisconsin, South Dakota and
California. ‘

Caremark leases the majority of its properties. Caremark believes that its properties are suitable for their
respective uses and, in general, are adequate for Caremark’s current needs. Caremark believes that existing
leases will be renegotiated as they expire or that suitable alternative properties can be leased on acceptable
terms.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

Caremark was notified in August 1991 that the OIG and the U.S. Department of Justice, with subsequent
grand jury participation, were investigating Caremark. The nature, scope, timing and outcome of the
investigation are not currently determinable. Caremark has provided and continues to provide information
and documents in connection with the investigation.

Caremark is in discussions with the OIG and the U.S. Department of Justice to settle the investigation.
Because certain state agencies are conducting related investigations of Caremark, representatives of various
state health care programs are participating in these discussions. Caremark is seeking to settle not only the
charges against Caremark in the indictment described below, but any and all other aspects of the
investigation, including any potential claims by the federal government or any state agency, as applicable,
under the federal laws prohibiting payment of remuneration to induce the referral of Medicare and Medicaid
beneficiaries (the “Medicare Referral Payments Law”), the federal False Claims Act (the “False Claims
Act”), or any other federal or state civil or criminal statute. No assurances can be given with regard to the
outcome of these settlement discussions.

On August 4, 1994, a2 grand jury impaneled by the United States District Court for the District of
Minnesota returned an indictment alleging that Caremark and employees of Caremark made payments and
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provided other benefits to a physician in connection with the distribution of human growth hormone. The
indictment charges Caremark with violations of the Medicare Referral Payments Law and the federal
conspiracy statute. The indictment charges the employees with violations of the federal conspiracy, mail and
wire fraud statutes. Criminal penalties under the Medicare Referral Payments Law could include fines of wp
to $25,000 per violation or up to five years imprisonment, or both. Criminal penalties under the federal
conspiracy statute and the Medicare Referral Payments Law could be increased, under the alternative fines
statute, to include fines of up to 3500,000 per violation with respect to Caremark. Criminal penalties under
the federal conspiracy, mail and wire fraud statutes could be increased, under the alternative fines statute, to
include fines of up to $250,000 per violation with respect to the employees or up to five years imprisonment,
or both. In each case, fines could be increased to 2 maximum of two times the amount of gross gain or loss in
connection with the violation under the alternative fines statute, and could also be increased under the Federal
Organizational Sentencing Guidelines. Civil penalties under the Medicare Referral Payments Law include
exclusion from participation in the Medicare and Medicaid programs; civil penalties under the False Claims
Act could include fines of up to $10,000 per claim and treble damages. If imposed, such penalties, although
not estimable at this time, could have a material adverse effect on the company’s business or on its income,
cash flow or financial condition.

In August and September 1994, stockholders, each purporting to represent a class, filed complaints
against Caremark and directors, officers and employees of Caremark in the United States District Court for
the Northern District of Illinois, alleging violations of the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, and fraud and negligence in connection with public disclosures by Caremark regarding
Caremark’s business practices and the status of the investigation discussed above. The complaints seek
unspecified damages, declaratory and equitable relief, attorney fees and expenses.

In August 1994, stockholders filed derivative actions on behalf of Caremark against directors, officers
and employees of Caremark in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the United States District
Court for the Northern District of Illinois alleging breaches of fiduciary duty and negligence in connection
with Caremark’s conduct of the business and the indictment discussed above and seeking unspecified
damages, attorney fees and expenses.

In late August 1994, certain patients of the specific physician referred to above and the sponsor of the
health insurance plan of one of those patients filed complaints against Caremark, employees of Caremark
and others in the United States District Court for the District of Minnesota. Each complaint purported to be
on behalf of a class and alleged violations of the federal mail and wire frand statutes, the federal conspiracy
statute and the state consumer fraud statute, as well as conspiracy to breach a fiduciary duty, negligence and
fraud. Each complaint sought unspecified treble damages, attorney fees and expenses.

In September and October 1994, Caremark was named as a defendant in a series of new lawsuits added
to a pending group of actions brought in 1993 under the antitrust laws by local and chain retail pharmacies
against brand name pharmaceutical manufacturers, wholesalers and prescription benefit managers other than
Caremark. The new lawsuits, filed in federal district courts in at least 13 states (including the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Hlinois), allege that at least 27 pharmaceutical manufacturers
provided unlawful price and service discounts to certain favored buyers and conspired among themselves to
deny similar discounts to the complaining retail pharmacies (approximately 1,300 in number). The complaints
charge that certain defendant prescription benefit managers, including Caremark, were favored buyers who
knowingly induced or received discriminatory prices from the manufacturers in violation of the Robinson-
Patman Act. Each complaint sought unspecified treble damages, declaratory and equitable relief, attorney
fees and expenses.

Caremark is party to various other claims and routine litigation arising in the ordinary course of business,
Based on the advice of counsel, management does not believe that the resulit of such claims and litigation,
individually or in the aggregate, will have a material effect on Caremark’s business or its income, cash flows
or financial condition.



ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.
Not applicable.

PART IT

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Incorporated herein by reference to Notes 11 and 17, “Common Stock” and “Quarterly Financial
Results (unaudited),” respectively, of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements appearing at pages 38
and 45 of Caremark’s Annual Report to Stockholders for the year ended December 31, 1994. The New York
Stock Exchange is the only exchange on which any class of Caremark’s common equity is traded.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

Incorporated herein by reference to the “Seven-Year Summary of Selected Financial Data” appearing
on the inside back cover of Caremark’s Annual Report to Stockholders for the year ended December 31,

1994,

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS,

Incorporated herein by reference to “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations™ appearing at pages 18 through 21, 23 through 25, 27 and 29 of Caremark’s Annual
Report to Stockholders for the year ended December 31, 1994,

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

Incorporated herein by reference to the “Consolidated Statements of Income,” “Consolidated Balance
Sheets,” “Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows,” “Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity,”
“Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,” and “Report of Independent Accountants” appearing at pages
22, 26, 28, 30 and 31 through 46 of Caremark’s Annual Report to Stockholders for the year ended December
31, 1994,

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

Not Applicable.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT.
Board of Directors

Incorporated herein by reference to “Election of Directors” and “Directors Whose Terms of Office
Continue,” appearing at pages 2 and 3 of Caremark’s Proxy Statement for use in connection with Caremark’s
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 2, 1995 (the “Proxy Statement”).
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Executive Officers

Information as of December 31, 1994 concerning the executive officers of Caremark follows.
Biographical information related to Messrs. Piccolo, Connelly and Hodson is incorporated by reference

above.

Kent J. De Lucenay, 46, is a vice president of Caremark, responsible for human resources, and from
pefore 1990 to November 30, 1992, was a human resources vice president of a subsidiary of Baxter and a
division of that subsidiary.

Kristen E. Gibney, 46, is a vice president of Caremark, responsible for the pharmaceutical services
businesses. From before 1990 to October 1994, Ms. Gibney was president of the prescription services division.

Michele J. Hooper, 43, is a vice president of Caremark, responsible for the international business. From
1992 to June 1993, she was president of Caremark’s international alternate site division. From before 1990 to
1991, she was president, Baxter Canada. Ms. Hooper serves as a director of Dayton Hudson Corporation.

Diane L. Munson, 44, is a vice president of Caremark, responsible for the physician services business.
From August 1992 to June 1993, she was president of Caremark’s health care services/east division. From
before 1990 to 1992, she was president of Baxter’s General Healthcare Division. Ms. Munson serves as a
director of J.M. Huber Corporation.

Dennis R. Owczarski, 51, is the treasurer of Caremark and from before 1990 to November 30, 1992,
was an assistant treasurer of a subsidiary of Baxter,

John M. Pellettiere, Jr., 44, is the vice president and controller of Caremark. From April 1992 to
November 30, 1992, he was vice president, financial operations for Baxter’s alternate site business group.
From June 1991 to April 1992, Mr. Pellettiere was senior vice president of a subsidiary of Caremark. From
before 1990 to 1991, he was vice president and controller for Baxter’s alternate site business group.

Thomas R. Schuman, 53, is the vice president, secretary and general counsel of Caremark. From August
1992 to November 30, 1992, he was vice president, law for Baxter’s alternate site business group. From before
1990 to August 1992, he held various positions at Baxter, including associate general counsel and vice
president, law for Baxter’s hospital business.

Donna C.E. Williamson, 42, is a senior vice president of Caremark, responsible for integrated services
and managed care contracting. From before 1990 to November 30, 1992, she was a corporate vice president
of Baxter and from November 1992 to June 1993, a vice president of Caremark. Ms. Williamson serves as a
director of A.G. Edwards, Inc. and Haemonetics Corporation.

Additionally, on February 27, 1995, K. J. Michael McDonald, 54, became a vice president of Caremark,
responsible for the therapeutic services and speciaity pharmaceutical services businesses. He has served as
president of the therapeutic services division since April 1992, having also assumed responsibility for the
specialty pharmacentical services businesses in 1994. From 1991 to 1992, Mr. McDonald was vice president
and general manager of therapeutic services. From before 1990 to 1991, he held various positions at Baxter.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
Summary of Compensation of Executive Officers

Incorporated herein by reference to “Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers,” appearing at
pages 7 through 10 of the Proxy Statement.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT. .

Incorporated herein by reference to “Ownership of the Capital Stock of the Company,” appearing at
page 6 of the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.
Not applicable,

PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.
The following documents are filed as part of this report:

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules

1. Financial Statements required by Item 8 of this Form (incorporated herein by reference to the
“Consolidated Statements of Income,” “Consolidated Balance Sheets,” “Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows,” “Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity,” “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,”
and “Report of Independent Accountants” appearing at pages 22, 26, 28, 30 and 31 through 46 of Caremark’s
Annual Report to Stockholders for the year ended December 31, 1994):

(1) Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 1994, 1993 and 1992;
(ii) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 1994 and 1993;
(iii) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 1994, 1993 and 1992;

(iv) Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 1994, 1993
and 1992;

(v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements;
(vi) Report of Independent Accountants.
2. Schedule VI, Valuation and Qualifying Accounts, required by Article 12 of Regulation $-X is
incorporated by reference to Note 6, “Trade Receivables,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

appearing at page 35 of Caremark’s Annuai Report to Stockholders for the year ended December 31, 1994.
All other schedules have been omitted because they are not applicabie or not required.

3. Management Contracts and Executive Compensation Plans and Arrangements required by Item 601
of Regulation S-K are listed as Exhibits 10.] through 10.5 and Exhibits 10.11 and 10.12 in the Index to
Exhibits, which is incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:
No Current Reports on Form 8-K were filed during the last fiscal quarter of 1994.

(c) Exhibits

Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed in the Index to Exhibits, which is
incorporated herein by reference. '
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SIGNATURES

t to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Secnrities Exchange Act of 1934, the
¢ has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therennto duly anthorized

reg S Oth day of March, 1995.
CAREMARK INTERNATIONAL INC.
By: /s/ _C.A. LANCE PICCOLO
C.A. Lance Piccolo
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the reqnirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title
/s/ C.A. LANCE PiccoLo Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief
—_— C.A. Lance Piccolo Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ THOMAS W. HODSON Director, Senior Vice President and Chief
Thomas W. Hodson Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ JoHN M. PELLETTIERE, JR. Vice President and Controller (Principal
John M. Pellettiere, Jr. Accounting Officer)
NANCY G. BRINKER* Diréctor
Nancy G. Brinker
VINCENT A. CALARCO* Director
Vincent A. Calarco
JAMES G. CONNELLY III* Director
James G. Connelly IIT
J. IrA HARRIS* Director
J. Ira Harris
ROGER L. HEADRICK* Director
Roger L. Headrick
RAILPH W. MULLER* Director
Ralph W, Muller
RaymMonD D. Oppi* Director
Raymond D. Oddi
PHILLIP B. ROONEY* Director
Phillip B. Rooney
PETER F. WHITINGTON, M.D.* Director

Peter F. Whitington, M.D.

BLAINE J. YARRINGTON®* Director
Blaine J. Yarrington

*By: /8/ C.A. LANCE PiccorLo

C.A. Lance Piccolo
Arntorney-in-fact
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

. Sequentia]
gxhibit No. Document Description Page No.

1.1 Caremark International Inc. Certificate of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10, File No. 1-11328 (the
“Form 10").

3.2 Caremark International Inc. Bylaws, incorporated by referemce to Exhibit 3.1 of the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 14, 1993.

4 Registrant hereby agrees to furnish to the Commission upon request, the instruments
defining the rights of holders of each issue of long-term debt of the Registrant or any of
its consolidated subsidiaries.

*10.1 Caremark International Inc. Qualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan (amended and
restated).

10.2 Caremark Internatiopal Inc. 1992 Incentive Compensation Program, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4(c) of the Registrant’s Registration Statement, File No. 33-55162,
on Form §-8.

10.3 Caremark International Inc. 1992 Stock Option Plan for Non-Employee Directors, in-
corporated by reference to Exhibit 4(c) of the Registrant’s Registration Statement, File
No. 33-55160, on Form S-8.

10.4 Severance Compensation Agreement, dated December 4, 1992, between the Registrant
and C.A. Lance Piccolo, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant’s
1992 Form 10-K File No. 1-11328 (the “1992 Form 10-K*).

*10.5 List of employees party to Severance Compensation Agreements identical to agreement
filed as Exhibit 10.4.

10.6 Plan and Agréement of Reorganization and Distribution, dated November 30, 1992,
between Baxter International Inc. and the Registrant, incorporated by reference to Ex-
hibit 10.6 of the 1992 Form 10-K.

10.7 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and listed employees, incor-
porated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of the Form 10.

*10.8 List of employees party to Exhibit 10.7.

*10.9 Long-Term Credit Agreement, dated as of October 3, 1994, among the Registrant, The
First National Bank of Chicago, as agent, and the lenders listed therein.

*10.10  Short-Term Credit Agreement, dated as of October 3, 1994, among the Registrant, The
First National Bank of Chicago, as agent, and the lenders listed therein.

10.11 1992 Caremark International Inc. Nonqualified Stock Options Terms and Conditions of
December 8, 1992 Awards, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the 1992 Form
10-K.

10.12 1992 Caremark International Inc. Restricted Performance Shares Terms and Conditions
of December 8, 1992 Awards, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the 1992
Form 10-K. )

10.13  Rights Agreement, dated as of November 30, 1992, between the Registrant and First
Chicago Trust Company of New York, incorporated by refersnce to Exhibit 10.13 of the
1992 Form 10-K.
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Exkibit Mo

*10.14

*10,15

*11.1
*11.2
#12.1
*13.1

#21.1
*23.1
*24.1

Document Description

Term Loan Agreement, dated as of January 17, 1995, among the Registrant, Credit
Lyonnais Chicago Branch, as agent, and the lenders listed therein.

Master Note, dated as of April 12, 1994, executed by the Registrant in favor of Wachovia
Bank of Georgia, N.A.

Computation of Primary Earnings per Common and Common Equivalent Share.
Computation of Fully Diluted Earnings per Common and Common Equivalent Share.
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

Caremark International Inc. Annual Report to Stockholders for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 1994 (such report, except to the extent incorporated herein by reference, is being
furnished for the information of the Securities and Exchange Commission only and is
not deemed to be filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K).

List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Price Waterhouse,

Powers of Attorney.

Sequential
Page No.

Copies of the above exhibits are available at a charge of 35 cents per page upon written request to the
Investor Relations Department, Caremark International Imec., 2215 Sanders Road, Suite 400,
Northbrook, Illineis, 60062. Copies are also available at a charge of at least 25 cents per page from the
Public Reference Section of the Secorities and Exchange Commission, 450 Fifth Street, N.W.,
Washington, D.C.,, 20549,

*Copies attached.
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Ukemark

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION aND ANALYSITS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Industry Segments

To more closely paralle] Caremark’s business development strategy and internal operating struc-
ture, the company reorganized its businesses during 1994 into five industry segments: Physician
Practice Management, Pharmaceudcal Services, Disease State Management, International and
Home Infusion (subjecr to sale). Businesses comprising these segments are listed on page 48 of
this Annual Report. The company previously utilized two reportable industry segments: Padent
Care and Managed Care. Prior vears’ results have been restated to conform with the new seg-

ment reporting presentation.

Net Revenues

Year ended December 3] 1994 1993 1992
(tn muititons) ’ [ |
| 1
Physician Practice Management P8 1901 $ 1356 g -
Pharmaceutical Services ‘ 1,097.3 631.2 522.1
Diisease State Management!! 631.3 548.5 +48.2
International | 65.4 17.4 33.8
Home Infusion 1 441.9 420.5 457.1
l
Tortals [ $2,426.0 $1,783.2 §1.461.2
Income before Sundry
and Income Taxes
Year ended December 31 1994 1993 1992
(dotlars in millions) ! |
Phvsician Practice Management ‘ $ 41 3 (14 S Q0
% of revenues ; 2.2% (1.0%) -
Pharmaceutical Services $ 463 $316 $11.5
% of revenues ; 4.2% 5.0% 22%
i
Disease State Management' l $124.9 31174 $783 :
% of revenues | 19.8% 11.4% 17.5% |
H |
:
International ! $ (LS F $ 14 5
% of revenues i (2.3%) (5.1%) 1%
5 \
Home Infusion? | § 6.1 8106 5 (1.2 ‘
% of revenues ’ (1.4%) 25% (0.3%)
General Corporate ! $(25.8) 521D 5(40.7)
q
Totals | $1419 $134.1 §47.3

(1) In Felnny 1995, Caremark eizered iute o definitive agreenient to sell its Clozarif® Patient Management Sysrem bugi-
ness {Note 16). Resules for this business ive imeluded in the Disease State Managenrent segment. Revennes of the Clozarif®
businesy weve SSEOCSTES wnd 36110 million i 1994, 1993 amd 1992, respectivety. Income before sundry and ionre

raves for this luinese was $42.5. 5366 and 821.8 nrillion i 1994, 1993 und 1992, respeaively.

(2) 1992 revades invltde pro-rax disteibearon. vestricturing and otker charges of $67.6 million which were allocared us follows:
Pharntacentiat! Services (85,6 mifiians, Disease Stute Management ($4.3 nriflion), Honee Tufision (526.7 milliont aid

Creneval Corporare (S27.8 mriflion).

(3) 1994 results fnclude o pre-ntx charge of S25.0 prillion related te the integration of Critical Care America.
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Medern: Healthcare

September 16, 1991
SECTION: THE WEEK IN HEALTHCARE; Legal; Pg. 12

LENGTH: 763 words

HEADLINE: Criminal investigation of Caremark shows feds won't ignore home-care
industry

BYLINE: Mary Wagner with Sandy Lutz
N .

BODY:

Attorneys and healthcare experts are saying a criminal investigation of
Baxter Healthcare Corp.'s Caremark home-care affiliate for alleged Medicare
kickbacks shows that the government is more than willing to prosecute the major
players in the home-care industry.

The probe also is the first of its kind to come to light since the government
ispued "safe harbor" guidelines defining provider business arrangements that
won't be vulnerable to prosecution under the Medicare fraud and abuse laws (v,
Aug. 5, p. 24).

p "It's a tough time for home care. The government is not shying away from
{ taking on the big guys," said Michael Peregrine, a healthcare attorney with the
: Chicago-based firm of Gardner, Carton & Douglas.

"It suggests that those organizations are best advised to take a look at
themselves and their legal exposure," Mr. Peregrine said. "It's not a question
of innocence or guilt; no one wants to get involved in (this kind of)
litigation. It will cost a fortune."

The probe represents a second legal headache for Baxter, which is under
criminal investigation in another case. A federal grand jury in Chicago is
examining allegations that the supplier violated federal law by aiding the Arab
boycott of Israel.

Meanwhile, Baxter and Caremark are denying any wrongdoing regarding payments
Caremark made to physicians for Ccase-management services. The HHS inspector
general's office is conducting that inquiry. Lincolnshire, Ill.-based
Caremark said it's cooperating with the investigation, which began on Aug. 9.

The inspector general's office originally summoned records of 800 contracts
Caremark has with physicians for cage-management services under its
fee-for-service, or Quality Service Agreement, program; instead, it now will
review a random sample of 130.

At issue is whether payments to physicians for case management of home-care
patients constitute legitimate compensation for their time or are fess for
referrals, which are prohibited under federal law.
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1991 Modern Healthcare, September 16, 1991

As of Oct. 1, Caremark will discontinue paying case-management fees to
physicians for Medicare and Medicaid home-care patients until the issue is
resolved.

A company spokesman confirmed that reimbursement from Medicare and Medicaid
constitutes about 20% of Caremark's estimated § 650 million in annual revenues.
Physicians receive § 12 to & 150 per week in case-management feesg under the QSA
program, he said.

The QSA contracts represent about 3,500 home-care patients, of which 600
patients receive Medicare or Medicaid reimbursement, Caremark said. But the
federal government is a huge Caremark customer, paying the company an estimated
$ 130 million per year for services to Medicare patients,

Most patients come to Caremark through pharmacists or nurses, without
physician intervention, a company spokesman said.

Most experts said that some type of arrangement, such asg fee-for-service
payments or consulting fees, is common in home care, although it takes many
forms. And most providers, including Caremark, said physicians deserve gome
compensation for time spent supervising home-care pPatients, particularly as such
treatment grows more complex.

However, there's no clearly defined legal mechanism for paymencs to
physicians supporting home-care treatment for Medicaid and Medicare patients.
Caremark will "seek clear requlations" on the matter, said Charles Blanchard,
chief executive officer.

Other groups already are seeking such regulation. Earlier this year, the
National Assn. for Home Care, a Washington-based trade group, recommended that
HCFA consider developing Medicare codes to categorize physician services to
home-care patients by the intensity of care provided. The group also
recommended that HCFA conduct a study on reimbursing physiciane for home-care
cases that require their intense involvement.

Meanwhile, the inspector general's decision to pursue the home-care
industry's biggest pPlayer -- industry analysts estimate Caremark has 30% to 40%
of the $ 2 billion home infusion therapy market -- sends an unpleasant message
to all home-care providers, legal experts said.

But some analysts said the investigation could ultimately benefit the
home-care industry.

"I don't think doctors are increasing referrals to home care because of any
payments because the amount of money they receive iz so small," said Randall
Huyser, a healthcare analyst with the New York-based investment firm of Furman
Selz. "Once the rules are defined, it may even stimulate growth in the
home-care industry as people are more clear on what's legal and what's not."
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Caremarr Ing,

FOR I"HEDIATE RELEASE Affliare Baxrer Heulthcare Corporation

435 Knighisorutye Parficgy
Lineoinshire. [linois 61069

Contact: Les Jacobson
{708) 948-4555

CAREMARK RESTRICTS SOME MEDICARE AND MEDICAID SERVICES,

COOPERATES WITH HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES REVIEW

LINCOLNSHIRE, 111., September 6, 1551 -- Caremark Inc.
announced today that effective October 1, 1991, it will no longer
pay physicians for their assistance in caring for Medicare and
Medicaid patients under the company’s fea-for-service agreements
with physicians.

The decision is a result of new “safe-harbor" guidelines
~ under the Medicare fraud and abuse law that were issued in July to
clarify permissible practices concerning Medicare and Medicaid
patients.

Caremark is cooperating with the Office of the Inspector
General of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (MHS)
in a review of Caremark’s fee-for-service agreements with
physicians and hospitals. The review was initiated on August 9,
1991, by the HHS Office of Inspector General.

Caremark is a leader in providing high-quality home ang
outpatient care. Caremark’s fae-for-service program proviges
weekly fees to physicians for their role in monitoring patients in
its home-care programs. Those fees typically range from $12 per
patient for enteral therapy to $150 per patient for total
parenteral nutrition (TPN) and antibiotic therapy.

Caremark has some 800 fee-for-service agreements with
physicians and serves 3,500 patients nationwide through the
fee-for-service program. Some 600 of those patients receive
Medicare or Medicaid reimbursement. Caremark serves a total of
75,000 patients a year,

-more-
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The new safe-harbor regulations fail to address
agreements with physicians and hospitals such as those that
have been made by Caremark and many other home-care providers.
Various forms of fee-for-service or consulting arrangements are
common in the home-infusion industry, and are seen as a way of
involving physician expertise in the home care of patients.

"The safe-harbor regulations were created to determine
what i3 beyond reproach regarding provider and physician
practices with Medicare and Medicaid,” sajd Charles H.
Blanchard, president and chief executive officer of Caremark.
“The regulations are drawn very narrowly, and do not address
physician involvement in home care. As a result, Caremark is
taking the conservative positfon of discontinuing this service
to Medicare and Medicaid patients, effective October 1, until’
the issue is resolved.

"Caremark is working closely with HHS. Our actions have
always been conducted in compliance with the law," Blanchard
added. "We believe strongly that physicians should be involved
in home health care. Unlike what happens in hospitals, no
reimbursement is available through Medicare or Medicaid to
physicians who support home-care patients. We will actively
seek clear regulations that enable physicians to play an
integral role in providing high-quality, cost-effective care to
Medicare and Medicaid patients. In the meantime, we will
continue to provide the highest possible level of care to all
our patients. "

Caremark is an affiliate of Baxter Healthcare Corporation
of Deerfield, I11inois. Baxter is the Teading international
manufacturer and marketer of health-care products, systems and
services,
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.3. probes fees paid by Baxter unit

Chicago Tribune (CT) - MONDAY September 9, 1991

By: Mike Dorning

 Edition: NORTH SPORTS FINAL Section: CHICAGOLAND Page: 2
Word Count: 447 '

TEXT:
o The federal government is investigating a home health care subgidiary
of Deerfield-based Baxter Healthcare Corp. to determine whether consulting
agreements with doctors amount to illegal kickbacks for patient referrals,
a spokesman for the company confirmed.

While denying any wrongdoing, Baxter’s Caremark Inc. unit announced
last week that it will discontinue such consulting arrangements for
Medicaid and Medicare patients effective Oct. 1. The government
investigation covers only those federally funded programs.

The contracts pay physicians weekly fees of between $12 and $150 to
. assist in evaluating home health care patients, Baxter indicated in a
~ statement. The investigation centers on whether fees paid by Caremark ,
the largest home health care provider in the nation, are fair compensation
for legitimate advisory services or kickbacks for steering chronically ill
. patients to the service.

Les Jacobson, spokesman for Caremark , said the advisory services
- “~~lude "going over charts, reviewing medications and issuing new orders,
' y much what (doctors) would do in a hospital at a nursing station."

. "If you look at the amounts being paid to doctors, it cannot be
. construed as kickbacks," Jacobson said. "It’'s less by far than they would
- be receiving for the same services in the hogpital.™

_ Jacobson said Caremark contracts with referring physicians since they
- are most familiar with patients’ medical histories.

: Subpeonas for records involved in the consulting program, a commorn

- arrangement in the home health care industry, arrived at Caremark
“headquarters Aug. 9, less than two weeks after the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services issued long-awaited regulations clarifying a 1977
federal anti-kickback law in health care.

The regulations create a "safe harbor" of health care business
- arrangements that are presumed not to be kickbacks, but consulting
. contracts such as Baxter’s are not on the list.

. Because of the new regulations, Caremark decided to "be conservative"
. and discontinue the consulting program for Medicare and Medicaid patients,
* Jacobson gaid. It will halt the arrangements the same day the regulations
~go into effect.
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Caremark will continue the arrangements for privately insured
patients because "we want there to be doctor involvement at home, " Jacobson

d.

If Caremark is judged to be paying kickbacks, it could be barred from
treating Medicare and Medicaid patients and forced to pay heavy fines under

the anti-fraud and abuse law.
About a fifth of Caremark 's $650 million in annual revenues come from

Medicare and Medicaid patients, Jacobson said. But he said the company only
earns a 1 to 2 percent profit margin on the patients.

Caremark is currently using the consulting contracts in the care of
3,500 patients, 600 of whom are covered by Medicare or Medicaid, the
company said in a statement. Some 800 doctors are receiving payments.

DESCRIPTORS: FEDERAL; PROBE; AGREEMENT; HEALTH; BUSINESS; MEDICINE; ISSUE;
LAW
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HEADLINE: JUST WHAT BAXTER DIDN'T NEED: A PAYOLA PROBE

BYLINE: Julia Flynn Siler in Chicago, with Susan B. Garland in Washington

BODY:

Lately, Baxter Intermational In¢. can't dodge the bad news. On Sept. 6, the
company revealed that Caremark Inc., its § 800 million home health care unit, is
being investigated for allegedly paying kickbackas to doctors. The Inspector
General's Office of the U. S. Health & Human Services Dept. began its probe in
August after complaints from Caremark rivals and physicians offended by the

practice, government sources say.

The company has been paying physicians who refer privately insured patients
Bince the early 1980s8. It extended the payments to doctors who treat medicare
patients about 18 months ago, say former executives, after losing market share
to competitors such as Atlanta-based T2 Medical Inc.

Paying doctors for referrals is specifically prohibited by the 1977
Medicare-Medicaid Antikickback Statute. Caremark maintains that it paid doctors
from $ 12 to $ 150 a week not for referrals but as fees for monitoring patients
receiving treatment at home. The key issue is whether physicians actually did
the paperwork and supervision the company claims they did.Caremark Chief
Executive Charles H. Blanchard says the company knew that its payments fell into
a gray area that it believes has not been addressed by HHS. But he adds that
Caramark stands by its decision because the law remains so fuzzy. Even s0, it
will quit paying physiciang and hospitals who refer medicare and medicaid

patients to its facilities starting Oct, 1.

STANDARD PRACTICE. Observers say that offering financial incentives to doctors
and hospitals is standard practice in the $ 2.5 billion home health care
industry. But Parker H. Petit, chief financial officer for rival Home Nutrition
Services, says the probe could spook doctors who've agreed to such deals: ''In
the future, if doctors want to do transactions like this, they'll be very, very

cautious.

Even if Caremark ig barred from participating in medicare, it won't feel
much of a pinch. The company, with a 35% market share, was a top performer in
the first half of 1991, when operating earnings rose more than 20%. Medicare
patients contributed roughly 20% of revenues in 1290, but juet 2% of profits.
However, if the Inspector General refers the case to the Justice Dept. for
further action, Baxter's image could need some nursing.
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WALL STREET JOURNAL
August 4, 1984

Caremark Probe Is Expected to Res

sult

In Indictments in Minnesota, Ohio Soon

By THomas M. Burron
Staff Reporter of THE WALL STAEET JOURNAL

A federal investigation of alieged kick-
backs paid by home health-care concern
Caremark Internatjonal [nc. is moving
toward cuwiminagon. with initial indict-
ments in Minnesota and Ohio expected
shortly,

The company. in response {0 an inquiry
from this newspaper. said a federal prose-
cutor in Minneapolis told Caremark that
she will ask a grand jury to indict the
company and three mdlevel empioyees

* “in connection with the company’s busi-

ness refationship with a Minneapolis phy-
sician,”’ The move could come as early as
today, according to people with Knowledge
of the inquiry,

Federal invesugalors also are scrutin-

i izing doctors in Columbus, Ohio, and an

indictment there cowid come within the
next few weeks. according to these same
pecpie,

Caremark. based in Northbrook. Ill..
and its activities 1n 12 U.S. cities have been
under investugation by (ederal authorities
since mid-1991. The nquiry is being con-
ducted by the nspector general's office of
the Department of Health and Human
Services, the Federal Bureau of Investiga-
ton and vanous U.S. atworneys’ offices
around the country.

Federal agents are orying to ascertain
whether doctors took money from Care-
mark to steer patients into sometimes
expensive treaiment by the company,
which provides in-home infusions of tiquid
nutrition,  antbiotics, chemotherapy
agents and other medications. Caremark,
which had {otal revenue from infusion and
other medical services of 31.8 billlon last
year, is the pation's largest provider of
in-home infusion treatment. It was a unit
of Baxter Interpational Inc., Deerfield,
1l., until Baxter spun 1t off in 1992,

The federal criminal inquiry, con-
ducted in cooperation with various grand
juries, is jooking at possible kickbacks to
doctors because such payments are gener-
ally illegal under federal Medicaid and
Medicare insurance laws. Caremark has]
long maintained that any payments
made to physicians were compensation for
trearment or supervision of patients. Some
of the activities under investigation took
place while Caremnark was part of Baxter.

Thomas R. Schuman, Caremark's gen-y
eral counsel, said yesterday that the coi
pany denies any wrongdoing and ‘believ
it will be vindicated when ail the facts
evaluared in an unbiased forum.” M¥,
Schuman said the planned indictment i

unwamnud and inappropriate”
added, “We weicome the cppostunity
present our side of the story in cour(."

The Minneapolis portion of the investi-
gation, which appears to be the most
advanced, involves at ieast one physician
as well as former Caremark employees.

- e
| according to the peopie familiar with the

details. Federal investigators and U.S.
prosecutors are focusing there on whether
a research grant of about $100,000 may
have constituted a paymemt to alleg
edly steer husiness to Carsmarc

The Columbus case, which is expected
to come (0 a conclusion in severat days or
weeks, involves one doctor who allegediy
received payoffs on & regular basis from
Caremark for home-infusion therapy.

In other parts of the country, according
to people with knowledge of the nquiry,
investigators plan shortly to.intarview be-
tween 100 and 120 doctors who received
large payments {rom Caremarg;investiga-
tors seek to enlist thenr-as-cooperadng
witnesses or possibly may indict them,
said peopie familiar with the case. '

Moreover, federal authorities foresee
pursuing possible civil restitution as weil
&s crminal charges. The federal govern-
ment. which administers Medicare and
Medicaid insurance prograrms, has the
ability to obtain recovery of_three times
what allegedly was meruperly obtained
from taxpayers. 1,

In an eartier heuth-cue fraud invest-
gation, the civil mumno_n dwarfed the
crumunal penalties. In a Jigpe.settlement
with the U.S. and 28 staies, Natonal
Medical Enterprises Inc. .agreed to pay
$380 million, $324.2 million ol whicl was for
civil restitution. National Medicai, based
in Santa Monica. Calif., nms acute-care
and psychiatric hospitals, and is divesting
itself of almost all of the mm- as pa.rt e{
the settiement.

Caremark, which has said lts so-u.lled
{ee-for-service agreements with doctors
were entireiy proper, curtailed those pay-
ment agreements when it learned the
federal government was examining the
transactions. The payments in many in-
stances involved several hundred dollars
per patient per month. The medical tregt-
ment itself can cost up 9 $100,000 or more
annually in cases in which patients receive
nutrition through a tube, '~ ~ =

In-heme infusion treatments often are
prescribed for cancer and AIDS patients,
as weil as for people who can't adequately
use their gastrointestinal systems because
of Uliness or recuperation from surgery.

The Minneapolis case aiso involves
treatment by injection with the human-
growth hermone Protropin, made by Gen-
entech Inc. of South San Francisco, Callf.
An employee of Genentech is aiso said to
be under scrutiny by federal agents in
connection with the Minneapolis events.
Genentech said it was aware of the inquiry
but declined to comment. )

The Minneapolis matter is believed to
be separate from & previously reported
series of events, aiso under investigation
by federal agents. involving 8 Caremark
joint venture at the University of Mum&
sota Hospital.
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The Wall Street Journal
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Thursaday, March 2, 1995
Health
School’s Audit Finds Caremark Partnership Isn’'t Legally Protected

NORTHBROOK, Ill. -- A University of Minnesota audit found that a
Caremark International Inc. partnership with university doctors isn’t
protected by the "safe harbor" rules of the federal antikickback law.

The "safe harbor" provisions under the law describe those types of
financial relationships between doctors or hospitals and medical-care

companies that are deemed legal. These, in turn, won’'t be prosecuted by
federal prosecutors.

The partnership with Caremark at the University of Minnesota,
originally described in The Wall Street Journal in October 1993, has

provided home therapy to patients referred by University of Minnesota
doctors.

Federal investigators have investigated the relationghip as part of a
broad national inquiry into whether Caremark may have violated the
federal law that outlaws kickbacks to doctors for referring Medicare or
Medicaid patients. Investigators have been looking into whether
disbursements to the hospital from the Caremark partnership might have

been a roundabout way of paying kickbacks to the hospital or doctors
there,

Caremark already is under federal indictment in Minneapolis in an

unrelated case alleging that the company paid kickbacks to another
doctor.

The audit noted that "an activity which does not £it within the
confines of a ’'safe harbor’ is not presumed to be unlawful." However, a
person familiar with the federal inquiry noted that such a situation
does at least elicit the interest of federal investigators.

Nancy Westcott, Caremark’s vice president of investor relations and
communications, said, "The audit described the amount of straightforward
effort that went into the partnership. The university was well-informed
about the establishment of the partnership. Auditors didn’t come across
any areas with which they were uncomfortable."
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For the 20-year-old father of two children, life had suddenly taken a tragic
rurn. A congenital blood-clotting disorder had regquired surgeons to remove most
5f his stomach. He survived the surgery, but will never again be able to eat or

iigest food.

A program of daily care known as home infusion saved his life. Through a
>ump and catheter, he can receive liquid nutrition at home. He is back with his
family and has returned to work.

But his survival will be at great cost to the health care system - as much
is $ 120,000 a year for the rest of his life.

The home-infusion industry, barely a decade old, now takes in $ 4 billion a
year nationwide for treating patients like him.

In Minnesota, the Star Tribune has found, the industry has shared § 3
nillion in profits fzrom that business with a corporation of University of
vinnesota doctors whose clearest contribution appears to be a steady flow of

patient referrals.

The doctors have formed a largely secret joint venture with Caremark Inc.
the largest company in the industry - and provide about one-fifth of
Caremark’'s home-infusion patients in Minnescta. The arrangement raises

significant legal and ethical questions.

Both the FBI and the U.S. Inspector General for Health and Human Services
have recently begun investigating the university-Caremark deal for possible
violations of kickback laws, the newspaper has learmed.

In fact, Caremark's national operations have been under investigation by the
inspector general for two years, to see whether its payments te¢ physicians and
nospitals are simply kickbacks to get patient referrals.

The university denies any illegality in the 2 1/2 -year-old venture with

remark, but acknowledges that the arrangement has been modified in an effort
to assure coqg&igggg_xi:h_ﬁadgzgi__gy. T ely.
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Question of kickbacks

Are the Caremark payments a kickback? Legal experts retained by the Star
'ribune say the main question is whether the university doctors actually
ontributed something to Caremark that is worth the profits their corporation is

‘eceiving.

The doctors say the payments from Caremark are not for referring patients
wut for providing a unique technology of cost-conscious managed care that is not

.vailable anywhere else.

That program, they say, includes guidelines, medical overview and outcomes
:nalysis to improve quality and control costs in the home treatments. And they
:laim that preliminary data indicate they are achieving those goals.

But the Star Tribune has learned that similar managed-care components are
tidely used in home-infusion programs and have been described in many published

‘eports, making them available to anyone who wants to read them.

The university offered Caremark its program before it was developed and has
et to publish a word on it. One of the most important components, the "outcomes
latabase, " hadn’t been started until after the joint venture was formed.
loreover, Caremark, of Northbrock, Ill., already had been working on such a

»rogram naticnally for a year.

. Compared with other technology transfers, the Caremark venture has involved
t sizable sum of money. In the past 2 1/2 years, the doctors’ corporation has
‘eceived about $§ 3 million from Caremark, meost of which it turned over to the

iedical school.

In the past three years, the university has received a total of $ 2.5
iillion in royalties from 206 other deals with private companies paying to use
-ts technology - including such inventions as an implantable drug-delivery
system and a vaccine for Lyme disease.

Kickbacks are a violation of federal law. They can raise health-care costs
if they lead to greater use of services. Joint ventures also can add to costs if

hey eliminate competition and result in higher charges.

Caremark’s egquipment billings for one of its main therapies - total
sarenteral nutrition - are significantly higher than the average for competing
10spitals and companies, according to state Medicaid data obtained by the Star

I'ribune.

University officials said that none of the profits from the Caremark venture
1ave been spent. They also said that guidelines are being prepared to ensure
that the money will be used only for patient care, research and education - and
1ot for the direct benefit of the doctors who refer patients to the joint

venture.
The legal experts say that money need not go directly to doctors to

sonstitute an illegal kickback. The test is whether the doctors derive a benefit
- even indirectly, as when money applied to a particular program frees up



PAGE 4
Star Tribune, October 18, 1993

ither funds for salary or research support.

Courts have ruled that the kickback law is violated if any part of payments
.re for patient referrals rather than for the delivery of services.

On Friday, the university issued an ll-page response to Star Tribune
uestions about the enterprise. It said, "We have been advised that the
‘ormation and operation [of the joint venture} is in compliance with the
pplicable law."

Conflicts of interest

University regents have adopted policies over the years aimed at encouraging
‘aculty relationships with industry, while limiting conflicts of interest that
ight interfere with their university duties.

Angd the year before the university-Caremark tie was arranged, a national
edical society urged its members to avoid joint ventures in the home-infusion
iusiness because they pose an "inherent conflict of interest," might encourage
wweruse of medical services, and could otherwise affect decisions on patient
:are.

Dr. Frank Cerra, a key University of Minnesota doctor in the Caremark
‘enture, is a member of the organization, known as the American Society for
‘"venteral and Enteral Nutrition.

Despite the society’s warning, Cerra and two other doctors, Randall Moore
nd Sara Jane Schwarzenberg, acted as part-time medical directors for the
:niversity-Caremark venture in 1991. In return, the joint venture agreed to pay
.he university § 183,340 for their work. The university said those payments were
10t continued the second year.

As program supervisor, Moore worked at least 10 hours a week for the
niversity-Caremark operation, which agreed to reimburse his department $
.03,000 a year for his time.

Moore declined to be interviewed. In a written response Friday, he said the
:hree doctors received their salaries from normal university accounts - not from
.he joint venture. But he did not say whether the ocutside money freed up other
‘unds for salaries, thereby providing an indirect benefit for the doctors.

After having negotiated the agreement to set up the Caremark deal, Moore
uit the university in late 1991 to become medical director at Caremark
ieadquarters. But he continued for at least a year to spend a day a week at the
iniversity hospital, evaluating patients to determine if they should go to his

‘ompany‘’s program.
Dr. Frank Rhame, as head of the university AIDS clinic, referred patients to

loore for home infusion and said he found Moore’s decisions medically sound. But
‘e said disclosure of Moore’s dual role "is not going to look too good."



PAGE 5
Star Tribune, October 18, 1983

Can patients choose?

In July 1992, the university signed an "interim agreement" stating that its
octors "may choose to refer patients” to the Caremark venture, but didn’t have

o do so.

Patients also are shown a statement telling them of the Caremark
elationship and giving them the freedom to choose other companies for the home

herapy.

But Caremark has a special access to university patients that other local
iome-infusion companies do not. Although the university doctors say they don‘t
:eep figures on total referrals, they think that almost half of the
iome-infusion patients have gone to Caremark. As of June, Caremark had served

86 university patients in 2 1/2 years.

Caremark has such close ties to the university that company nurses are
stationed in the hospital and help plan patient discharges to the program. The

iniversity declined to say whether other companies’ representatives can see
>atients in the hospital; one company official said his nurgses were turned away.

In one case, according to a source with direct knowledge of the incident, an
1IDS patient objected to being referred to Caremark because of the cost. Moore
.0ld the patient he would no longer serve as his doctor if he chose another
ompany, the source said. The patient went to Caremark.

In his written response, Moore said the Caremark charges turned out to be
~er than those of another firm.

After they have been referred to the Caremark program, patients are given
:he written statement advising them of the referral and of the
iniversity-Caremark financial arrangement. The statement also tells them that
:he arrangement calls for university doctors to monitor their care 24 hours a

lay and work to improve it.

Then the university statement advises patients that they are "free to
thoose" a different company. In 1992, however, 294 patients went to Caremark,
ind only 14 chose another company. Twenty-eight were required by their insurers

0 go elsewhere.

Why do sc many patients go to Caremark? "Because the communications pathways
1ave already been established,” Rhame said.

The university-Caremark venture was established without competitive bidding
on either the service or the supplies to support it. University officials say
they have no information on whether they could reduce costs by running their own
srogram, as they did earlier, or turning to other companies.

Slow to publish

For eight years, since they started to develop the managed-care program, the
iniversity doctors have published no information on it. And since forming the
venture with Caremark in 1991, they have shared the details only with the
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~mpany .
Today, Caremark holds a copyright on the managed-care program, with "alil
‘ights reserved."”

University policy and tradition call for publicly sharing the fruits of
cademic work. But the doctors say it has taken time to achieve a database that
an be "statistically validated." Preliminary results of their studies, they
:ay, indicate that their program has reduced medical proklems in the home
‘herapy, and a report is being prepared for publication.

The university said Friday that the Caremark partnership will make it
jogsible to bring verified information to the medical profession and the public

wore quickly than if the doctors had acted on their own.

Secret arrangements

University of Minnesota doctors have been able to keep secret many of the
jetails of their venture because they set it up through their private
iedical-practice system, outside normal university overview.

Abuse of that system in other departments of the medical school - especially
n the use of funds - recently prompted regents to tighten controls and remove

iome of the secrecy.

In this case, more is unknown than is known about the use of such funds and
:he operation of the doctors’ corporation, and whether policies were followed.
‘he university said the departments invested medical-practice meney in the joint
renture, but didn’t say how much. It also said the corperation did not retain
iny earnings, but it had given a different answer to that question earlier.

Cerra, president of the doctors’ corporation, refused to be interviewed but
igreed to an exchange of questions and angwers in writing, which took place over
. period of months. Although he and the university provided a considerable
imount of information, they declined to give any details on the finances of the
caremark venture, guidelines and protocols for the program or the transfer of
-he university technology. They said these were all proprietary matters.

In its final response Friday, the university said that the plans for the
joint venture had been fully disclosed to appropriate university officials and
ipproved by them, and that the funds had been properly handled.

Breakthrough? Buzzwords?

Caremark and the university.describe their program as one of a kind. Critics
zall it a collection of buzzwords.

The university doctors say their program, which they call a technology,
:ludes guidelines and protocols on how to provide the treatments, "clinical
sathways" laying out details on what must be accomplished, and computerized data

showing outccmes. They say it involves "total quality management, " a process
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~ assure effective patient care and find how to improve it.

But more than a dozen representatives of other home-infusion services,
ncluding academic pioneers in the field, said the University of Minnesota
irogram is far from unique. They describe similar programs in their own
niversities, hospitals and companies: the gquidelines and pathways, the outcomes
:ata and total quality management.

"All that is just standard buzzwords, and we’'re doing all that too; I don't
ee any difference between what we are doing and what they are doing," said
‘arol Schaffer, head of Cleveland Clinic Foundation Health Care Ventures, which
uns a large home-infusion service.

The Oley Foundation in New York established a computerized database in 1985.
t now has information from more than 200 programs on the results of treating
0,000 patients and has published its findings. In 1990 Caremark began setting
P a national system to collect such data and now promotes it. Representatives
:f other company and hospital programs say they are doing the same.

At the request of the Star Tribune, home-infusion experts reviewed the
‘niversity of Minnesota's four-page description of its program. The general
‘eaction was summed up by Dr. Marvin Ament of the University of California at
0S8 Angeles, who set up one of the country’s first home-infusion programs 20
‘ears ago.

"I don’t know what they are talking about that is so special,"” he said. "We
it, but we don‘t say it’'s a model."

In its response Friday, the university said that if the other programs have
een successful, "that success has not been reflected in the academic medical/
cientific literature, nor have their techniques and protocols been made
‘enerally available."

But the Star Tribune found more than 50 reports on home infusion in the
‘edical jourmals. They included a 1986 cost study in Canada, a 1991 report on
:anaged care in New Mexico and extensive guidelines first published in 1987 and
.pdated since. None was from the University of Minnesota.

Peter Mitsch, treasurer for the corporation of doctors, said the physicians
ave now completed a managed-care model for nutrition therapy that will be used
‘irst in Minnesota, then nationally. what’s different about it? "Heavier
-nvolvement of physicians,* he said.

Dr. Lyn Howard, professor of medicine at the Albany Medical College in New
‘ork and another pioneer in the field, sees promige in the university’s effort
0 develop such a program, but added, "The rest of us are wondering, is that
‘oing to happen?"

Home infusion
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Advarnces in medical care and technology now make it possible to inject
jutrients and drugs into patients in their homes, rather than in the hospital.
"he mogt complicated procedure is known as total parenteral nutrition (TPN), is
llusrrated on the right. It calls for threading a catheter through the chest
vall and into a large vein above the heart. A pump is then used to maintain a
low of liquid nourishment into the bloodstream. Another method, called total
:nteral nutrition, involves use of a tube to feed nutrients directly into the
itomach. The purpose is to provide "food" for patients who cannot eat or digest
‘ood normally. Drugs also are injected into veins to treat cancer and kill pain,
.n cases in which taking drugs orally is not practical or effective. It’s all
nown as home infusion - now a major industry.

How total parenteral nutrition works

1. A catheter is surgically inserted into the body through a 1/4-inch
incision in chest tissue.

2. A thin guidewire is used to guide the catheter’s tip into position just
ibove the heart, in the vein that supplies the heart with blood from the rest of

he body.

3. The position of the catheter is confirmed using X-ray or fluoroscopy.

4. Fluids, containing nutrients and/or medication, can be run through a
nechanical pump, called an infusion pump. It provides a continuous or periodic
- flow of fluids to the blood.

A bag carrying a pump can be worn as a backpack or carried over the shoulder,
giving a patient mobility.

Fluids can also be injected with a syringe inserted into the catheter by way
of the injection cap.

Sources: Pharmacia Deltec, Inc., Minnesota Home Therapeutics Inc., 3M
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Doctor Charged
With Kickbacks

From Caremark

————

By THOMAs M, Burton
Staff Reporter of THE Wars STREET JounnaL

A federal grand jury in Columbus,
Chio, charged an osteopathic doctor in
Columbus with receiving $124,600 in kick-
backs from Caremark Internationai Inc.
for steering patients to the home-care
company.

This is the second indictment arising
[rom a three-year federal criminal inquiry
into Caremark, the nation’s leader in pro-
viding intravenous medicines and lquid
nutrition in patients' homes. Caremark
wasn't mentioned by name in the indict-
ment, but federal investigators confirmed
that the Northbrook, III., concern was at
the center of the case against osteopath
Elllot Neufeld, 42 years old.

The grand jury, working with the Fed-
eral Bureau of Investigation and the ip.
spector general's office of the Department
of Health and Human Services, charged
Dr. Neufeld with soliciting and taking
kickbacks to refer patients to Caremark,
Klckbacks are illegai under the federal
Medicare and Medicaid Insurance pro-
grams.

People famiilar with the inquiry said
that the government continyes 10 pursue
multiple criminal cases involving Care-
mark and that investigators expect to seek
other indictments. Caremark, which had
$1.8 billlon in 1993 revenue, was a unit of
Baxter International Ine. at the time many
of the alleged kickbacks were made. Bax-
ter spun off Caremark In November 1992,
Caremark closed at $22.25. dowm 37.5 cents,
in composite trading on the New York
Stock Exchange yesterday. ‘

Caremark has long defendeq payments
to doctors as compensation for monitoring

© patients receiving therapy at home, and

not as kickbacks. The Columbys {ndiet-
ment alleges, however, that payments to
Dr. Neufeld stretching from January 1991
until this year were in éxchange for send-
ing- Medicare snd Medicaig patients to
Caremark. Caremark provides tube feed-
ings and intravenous antiblotics, chemo-
therapy and pain medicatton to patients at
home,

Dr. Neufeid didn't respond to requests
for comment. A Caremark spokesman
said, "Our relationships with physicians
have always been designed to comply with
the law and provide quality cost-effective
care to patients.”

Michael T. Dyer, Midwest regionai in-
Spector general for investigations with
Health’and Human Services, said kick-
backs “greatly increase the cost of health
care without providing any health-care
service.” Moreover, he contended, such
financial relationships between doctors
and home-care companies "also encourage
unnecessary tests and procedures.”

Edmund A. Sargus Jr., the U.S. attor
ney in Columbus, said the inquiry there is
continuing, “Investigating health-care
fraud is a top priority, and certainly sorne-
thing we pian to put a lot of our resources
into.' he said.

Dr. Neufeld was paid consuiting fees
and compensation under Caremark con-
tracts known as “‘quality service agree-
ments,” according to the indictment, byt
the grand jury contends the payments
were merely bribes. In addition. the indict-
ment alleges, Caremark paid the salaries
of Dr. Neufeld's nurses and supplied him
with a computer and a facsimile ma-
chine,

Caremark was previously charged by a
federal grand jury in Minneapolis with
participating in a $1.1 miltion illegal-kick-
back scheme to induce g Minneapolis
doctor to preseribe Protropin, a human-
growth hormone that Caremark distrib-
utes. Caremark has said it *“expects to be
vindicated" once al] legal proceedings con-
clude,
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Doctor Is Charged With Kickbacks From Caremark
By Thomas M. Burton
Staff Reporter of The Wall Street Journal

A federal grand jury in Columbus, Ohio, charged an osteopathic doctor
in Columbus with receiving $134,600 in kickbacks from Caremark
- International Inc. for steering patients to the home-care company .

This is the second indictment arising from a three-year federal
criminal inquiry into Caremark, the nation’s leader in providing
intravenous medicines and liquid nutrition in patients’ homes. Caremark
wasn’t mentioned by name in the indictment, but federal investigators
confirmed that the Northbrook, Ill., concern was at the center of the
case against osteopath Elliot Neufeld, 42 years old.

The grand jury, working with the Federal Bureau of Investigation and
le inspector general’s office of the Department of Health and Human
-ervices, charged Dr. Neufeld with goliciting and taking kickbacks to
refer patients to Caremark. Kickbacks are illegal under the federal

Medicare and Medicaid insurance programs.

Pecple familiar with the inquiry said that the government continues
to pursue multiple criminal cases involving Caremark and that
investigators expect to seek other indictments. Caremark, which had
$1.8 billion in 1993 revenue, was a unit of Baxter International Inc.
at the time many of the alleged kickbacks were made. Baxter gpun off
Caremark in November 1992. Caremark closed at $22.25, down 37.5 cents,
in composite trading on the New York Stock Exchange yesterday.

Caremark has long defended payments to doctors as compensation for,
monitoring patients receiving therapy at home, and not as kickbacks.
The Columbus indictment alleges, however, that payments to Dr. Neufeld
stretching from January 1991 until this year were in exchange for
sending Medicare and Medicaid patients to Caremark. Caremark provides
tube feedings and intravenous antibiotics, chemotherapy and pain
medication to patients at home.

Dr. Neufeld didn’'t respond to requests for comment. A Caremari
spokesman said, "Our relationships with physicians have always been
designed to comply with the law and provide quality cost-effective care
Copr. (C) West 1994 No claim to orig. U.S. govt. works
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to patients."

Michael T. Dyer, Midwest regional inspector general for

nvestigations with Health and Human Services, said kickbacks "greatly
increase the cost of health care without providing any health-care
service." Moreover, he contended, such financial relationships between
doctors and home-care companies "also encourage unnecessary tests and
procedures. "

Edmund A. Sargus Jr., the U.S. attorney in Columbus, said the inquiry
there is continuing. "Investigating health-care fraud is a top
priority, and certainly something we plan to put a lot of our resources
into, " he said.

Dr. Neufeld was paid consulting fees and compensation under Caremark
contracts known as "quality service agreements, " according to the
indictment, but the grand jury contends the payments were merely
bribes. In addition, the indictment alleges, Caremark paid the salaries
of Dr. Neufeld’s nurses and supplied him with a computer and a
facsimile machine.

Caremark was previously charged by a federal grand jury in
Minneapolis with participating in a $1.1 million illegal-kickback
scheme to induce a Minneapolis doctor to prescribe Protropin, a
human-growth hormone that Caremark distributes. Caremark has said ig
"expects to be vindicated" once all legal proceedings conclude.
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Ohio doc with ties to Caremark faces kickback charges

Modern Healthcare September 26, 1994 p. 14
ISEN: 0160-7480 :

A Columbus, Ohio, physician with ties to Caremark International was
indicted last week by a federal grand jury on charges of receiving $134,600
in illegal physician kickbacks.

Elliot Neufeld, 42, a Columbus osteopathic physician, was charged with
conspiracy to solicit and accept Medicare and Medicaid kickbacks from an
unnamed home infusion company, soliciting and accepting kickbacks, and mail
fraud.

Dr. Neufeld declined to comment on the charges. His attorney, James
Streicker of the Chicago-based law firm Cotsirilos, Stephenson, Tighe &
Streicker, saild his client will plead innocent.

Mr. Streicker also represents Caremark executive Judy Giel, who was
indicted along with Caremark and four other individuals last month by a
federal grand Jjury in Minneapolis, charged with paying a Minneapolis
physician $1.1 million in illegal kickbacks (RAug. 8, p. 4).

Caremark wasn’'t specifically named in lagt week’s indictment in
Columbus. However, sources close to the events told MODERN HEALTHCARE that

Caremark i the home infusion company referred to in the indictment and
remains the focus of the federal investigation in Chio.

The unnamed company was not charged in the indictment.

Meanwhile, Caremark denied any involvement in the case.

‘We’re not discussing details of the indictment,’ Caremark spokesman
Les Jacobson gaid. '‘We were not involved. There 1s nothing to say.’ When
asked whether Dr. Neufeld was affiliated with Caremark , Mr. Jaccbson

- declined comment.

Since August 1991, Caremark ’'s business arrangements with physicians
have been the center of an ongoing federal investigation. At issue is
whether the Northbrook, Ill.-based company violated federal laws by paying
physicians illegal kickbacks in return for Medicare patients.

In 1993, approximately 14% of Caremark ’'s revenues, or about $250
million, came directly from Medicare and Medicaid patients.

- John Burng
THIS IS THE FULL TEXT: Copyright 1994 Crain Communications, Inc.
WORD COUNT: 281

COMPANY :
*Caremark Intnl

PRODUCT: *Home Intravenous Therapy (8096140)
EVENT: *Justice & Safety (98)
COUNTRY: *Ohio (1639)
(C) 1995 INFORMATION ACCESS CO. ALL RTS. RESERV.
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ARC-TvV ’
Prime Time Live

Sam Denaldaon, host

We’'va all heard tha phrase, ‘the doctsr knows bast.
Often, it’s trua. But tonight, we begin with a atery of
how scme doctara made a lot of money by thinking what wae .
best for them was not Just for theix patieants. (gic) kg
a story of doctors cashing in through secret dogls with the
country‘s biggeet home health cars company, Caremark, Tha -
patients they referred to-Caremark got their cara, alright,
but at a cost that was sky-high, whils the dectors who.mada.
the refarrals were raking in a percentage off tha top. .
Take a look at a.story that gives new meaning to the
phrase, ‘the doctor knowa best, '

This is the weekend homa of Atlanta doctor Michael
Rankin, located on four hundred thirty-seven acres asar
Laxington, Rentucky. {visual of homa) He paid a million
dollars cash for it. Doctor Richard Hudsen moved from this
modest house iz Atlanta to this manaion in tha city’a .
luscioua naighborhocd, (vimuvalg of homes) Purchasa price--
1.9 million. According to sources, these and other Atlantca
axea doctors cashed iz, thanks to secret deals with the
largeat homa health care company in the nation, Caremavi.
Deals dependsd on patients like Alan Booth, who has AIDS.

Alan Booth (AIDS Patient): It was a money game; it wag a
way for them to make a.lot of monay,

Danaldson: Nearly three years ago, Booth became very ill.
His docror, Michasl Rankin, arranged for him to raceive all
his intravengus drugs. at homs, through Caremaxie.

bid he recommend a number of companies and say, ‘Now,
look, you can go with this one or this one or this one?’

Booth: I was cnly offared one company. He bfought a
gontract over to ma and told me to read iw, sign on the
line, and that Caremark would take care of all billings,

Donaldson:' Por a long while, Booth never saw a bill. Thay
want to his. ingurance company, Prudential, which paid tham.
Until a mistake, he srarted receiving copies. (gic) The
totala shocked him. Carsmark had billed his insurance

Ml i Bmtndy fonit & a—— ks Satl Sy
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company almost fifty thoumand dollars in cna 'nine-w'oek
Pericd alena. At that Tate, Booth was afraid hig ona
million dollaras of lifatime coverage would soon run oyt -

Booth: I remamber Eﬁar'avery veek, wondering if X'm going:
to ba told at my docter‘g office that I'm cuc Off and T
can‘t come’ baclk. , .

Donaldaan: Booth bagan. Bhepping arcund, and found he could’
get tha game druge and similar home carve services elsewharg -
for much lase. Likae at Midtown Medicipe. Carsmark charged -
a hundred fiftean deallars for a dosa of Encomycin- {(spd. . . .
Midtown charged only sixcy-five. (Caremark charged twy. .
hundred aixty-five dollars -for a hundred A2?P pillg. ...
Midtown charged a hundyed forty-aight. Caremark charged
over four thousand 'dsllars for 4 one weeX supply of agn ST
intravenous nueTiticnal supplement. Midtown’s charge would
have baen Jupt over fiftaen bhundred. (Graphice of i T
information) '

Alan Beoth wondered: why Dr. Rankin would refer him-to - -

& company with such high prices. He told us this weman, ..
Ellen Sweet, who was.Dr. Rankin’'s cfficae manager, finally.
told him a secret. (Visual of Ellen Sweet)  If Rankin .
reaferrad .a patient to Caremark, he would. gét twanty-five
percent of.all ths money Caremark collected from the ‘
patiant’s Lnnu:’a.n:e'cbuaa_ny. ‘ Y

Booth: At ‘fizat ¥ Waa upset and confused:' That turned’ )
into anger and rige, . and hare I am, somebody: very sick, and
who do I talk to about thie? : . .

Danaldson: Did you go to Dr. Rankin and say, ‘Is this’
true?’ : - j Qo _
ooth: I did. I confronted Dr. Rankin and.Y confronted- :
Caremark, and both of them denied having any kind of .
business cdals.. . T

Danaldecgn: -Booth £i1éd a lawmuit, but shortly aftar .
8peaking to us,.hs settled it, Caremark :Eraa'd' tS pay his -
attorney’'s feas and give him free home health. cara for - -
life. In return, Booth alygn=d a statement saying he'd . ..
received suparior care and he had no persomzl knowledge of
any kickbacks to doctors, a statement calling it all a-
misunderstanding. ) ' .o '
But Prime Time’sg iavestigation has. uncoverad a lot of
indepandant evidence pointing to the truth of what Alan -
Booth ‘had told us. We tracked down five former: Carémark
employees, twa of. whem agreed to go on camera with ) .
identities .concealead;, who-describad for us an 'slaborats.’ .

schana involving dao}:nzs.

Employee #1' (Purther Unidentified): I cali it buying.a .
dactor, . o ) R A
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Caremark billed tha insmurance company, but in thée nama of x
third company, set up by the doctor, who miphonad off a
parcentage of tha insurance money, sometimes ag much aa,
thirty parcane. - -,
What did the doctors do for this?

Euployee #2 (Further Unidentified): Refer che patient.
Danaldson:: Thé doctor dﬂn't pexform any services for iep.

Bmployee #2:° - In addition to the services that he would
ve performed on his patient normally? . .

nona.ldsuqi Yeah,

Employss #2; Mo,

Donaldson: Aod of courme, tha doctor’s fipaneial intereatc
was concealed, Take a look at one of Booth’'s billa, .
(visual of bill). Even'.though Caremark has provided all tha .
goode .and services, Beoth’s insurance cempany, Prudential,
is being billed by a company called Family Medical Services
at a Chicago post office bo. Pamily Medical Services was
nothing moxe thap a front set up for the Lenefit of rwe
doctors, one of whom was Michaaml Rankin, Booth’s dsctor.
These arrangements wars .go irregular that vome of )
Carsmark’s own staff thought it fishy, like. this formexr
arployee. L T .
Employas #3 (Purther Unidentifiad): What my MAnager cnca

told me when I qusstisned it was cthey have to pay tha
doctor aomething. .

Donaldson: ' Or the doctor wouldn't refer pacients ta
Caremark? . : . '

Esployee #3: Or 'thay‘ would go somewliers elge.

Donaldson: For the doctors, it was a gold nu.m
How much money did this add up to?

Ewployes #2: Some doctors received as much as £ifty
thousand dollars a month, ' L

Donaldson: A month?
Employea #1: ‘,',YIQI.
Dooaldson: She says Dr. Rankin made the most of all.

Enployee #2: There were two or three months in whieh he
exceeded over a hundred thousand dollars. S
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Donaldson: 'Where was thia kind of money coming from? we
asked Don Crecse, who cwns Midtown Medicine, ta g0 over
soma of the bills with us.. Taks the backpack that Besth
and others use to carry around their intravensus drugs.
How much do you charge a patient for thae baekpacik?

Don Creese (Ownax, Midtown Medicine): There is 1o chazge
for the backpack. But when I'va got to buy a new backpack.,
if thig cria geta solled, it cesta ma thirey dollaxa, .

Donaldgon: Cazwmark charged Bocth three hundred twenty

dollara. Caremark also billed for drug compounding, that-

ia, mixing 'a drug with water, ap Creeses ig doing here., A"

procedure which takes about a mipute a’doge, .
How muck do you charge for ie? o

Creewe: Thera is no charge for compounding.
Donaldson: What if you did a hundred of them? R
Crasae: Thera im atill no chargas for compounding. i

Donaldsona . Cixemark charged Booth over a thousanddollars . .
for compounding. fourteea doaes., That'’sg a .thougand dollars
for about fourtsen mimucss‘ work. But there’s more. | - .
Caremark not only charged exexbitant prices for its own .
services, it marked up the drug bills ics patients ihcurred
ca thair own, as Keavin Rausch belatedly discovered.. . Caoc

Kevin Raiigsch -(Dﬁlim:d Drugs for Patient): We-all went -
through this horrible time together. Ha naeded help. - |

Donaldson: Rausch ig talking shout Hazry Grasmick, who
died of AIDS two and a half years ago. When Grasmick got -
too wedk to pick up drugs himself, his family hired Rausch
to do it for him at Howall Mill pharmacy in Atlanes. .

Rausch: We wanted him ta live in dignity; we' wanted him to
die in dignity. - - ' ' .

Dmldsgn: W’ha.win Harry's dactor?
Rausch: Dr. Cole Woolford.

Donaldson: Eut when Rausch looked over tha insurance bills
and compared them to Howard Mills’ stated prices, ha was . -
anazed. ‘Howell Milla’ charge for a hundred twenty Dilantin .
tableta wag twanty-four dollars, eighty ceata. But the . _
bill to the insurance company was far forty-eighty. Howell .
Milla‘ charge for a hundred Biaxin pills was two hundred i
sixty dollars. But ths insurance company was baing billed
for four hundred. thirty-three dollars. (Graphics of -
ioformation) According to sources, Dr. Woolfozrd ment .
Grastick to Howell Mill Pharmacy, which was submitcing cha -
bills to Carcmark, which was jacking them up to the . .
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:.naunnca campuw, but not un:l.ng its evn ma. No, t.h.. Lo
insurance company was heing billed by something called Houm
Therapy Alternative, which, esurprise, used a Chicago ! post
cffice address. . .

Wa did eome checking, however, and chq federal .tax
i.d. number liptad cn Grasmick’s bills referred us baek to
Georgia. We found ths company regigtered with thae !
secrecary of state‘'s office in Atlanta, and guess wnn tums
out to be behind ir? . . .

Do. you know- who owna Home Therapy A.‘Ltemt:l.ve" L

Rauach: No, have ne’ ida; who owns Hcme Thsrapy
Alternative.

Donalduon: We chcckad. The man who iz the chief execut:ive
officaxr ia Dr. Cols Woolfa:d

Rausch: Well, I... I'm amased. I'm shocked. I da_n"l: ):nnﬁ
what to.eay, I didn-t ‘uxpact him to be involvea io it,
zot like that. - o

Donaldaan: mt do you maks of thia, Mr. Rausch?
Rausch; 7Tt’s bloocl mngw it*s pure bloocd maney

Dr. Lonnie Brin:al. (Pramidant-Elact, American Medical
Asaocinl:icn): K.tckbnekl are une:h.‘l.cal c¢leazly.

Dcmaldaan. We shawed some of our tapes and matarials ko
Dr. Loanie Briatol, presidenc-elecr of the Amarican Madical
Association. He says doctozrs should only be pad.d !u;-
sexvicas r-ndend

Bristol: . Any :imn ‘A phyiicim raceives a raward £=z gimply.
sending .a patient to an sntity that’s p::oviding somé gort
of a sarvice, that’s.a kickback arrangement. And if these
statements ATs proven to be true, then that would bs a
kickback arrangement, and that’s clearliy u.net:h;aal and
would be daplotnd by the professicn.

William: Dmhy (National ‘Association for Nome Carelz In tuy
review of the Georgia law, this would not be illegal perx
Se. In-a. neiqh.borl.nq sul;e like Plorida, it wwld bo.

Danaldason:' wnum Dnnhy h!l.dl tha legal sec:ion of the,
Naticnal Muuuuuen for Homa Cars. No matter what scate: .
law providas, he says his organization cm:.dora kickbacks
unethical’'and that prices charged by scme in the industry !
azre out:ageaun. |

Domby: w.'v- nupporr:ed legulation which wauld ba.n :n.u
kind of. canﬁuc:.

Dmldanp- wny :ln 1mmuc cowpanias pay thue large
billa?
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Damby: I think cne raason why is -insurznce coempaniag
really just locked at the chargea as 3 charge compared to
hoapital care. . If the charge for hospital cara WEBS greatey
than the charge for the home care services, they felt thay.
were getting:a geod deal. . K

Denaldson: Certainly also a good deal for Caremark and the
doctors. But it raimss questions for the patienta that go
beyond monay. K “ L

Beath: If you lock At the cost of zome of tﬁiaa'éﬁé.,

five, gix hindrad dollara a bottle they charge, Lt mekes ma: o

wondex how miuch of that was really necessary and how much,

of it wag juat a way for che doctor te get more kickback. '

Donaldsen: ';I'o.'gé‘c:':.jich. .
Booth: Rﬂﬂtl?’

Domaldaon: W wanted td get_the doctors’ sida of all 3rem S

We caught up with Dr. Michasl Rankin on his way to hia
Kentucky weekend Homg, IR .
Docter, is it ethical to gat money from Caremark’ for
patients thac you Kave sent tham? Can’t you talk to me .
about ie? e I . )

Dr. Michasl Rankin (Accused of Accepting Kickbacks): ! I
just wish you ;117 a.gobd. day. ’

Donaldson: . Dr.. Rankin,.we’d ike to sit ddwn with you and -
do a formal ‘intervisw. . ST e
He.declined, but his.attormey sent us thias léttex;
saying Dr: Rankin never did anything illegal, and- paver
compromised the quality of carm he deliverad £0 his.-
patients’ based on bupiness ag oppossd to medical '
consideraticns. (Graphic of lattsx) Farry Grasmick+g .
doctor, Cole Woolferd, alge daclined to it down with ua, o
His only off ths cuff corment was the- sane -as ‘Dr, -Rankin’s'.
Is it ethical to do that, doctor? e ' .o B

Dr, Cole Weoiford' (Accused of Accepting Xickbacks): - Have a
nice day. A . C

Donaldson: Dr. Richard Hudson, whe lives in that Atlanta.
mansion, didn’t return our phone eall. For ite part, - |
Caramark, in i letter, acknowledged having percentage daals
with some doctors, but. said ths arrangements complied’ with
federal .and stata laws,. and wera structured to het;er.sum_ u
the patients. The company writes, ‘It was naver Caresmark’'s
policy to pay physicians for referrals, and actually, - 'ie’

wan the dootors ‘who hired Caremark and paid it a percentage
£o provide home care and do the billing.’ (Visual of .- . .

lattex) " ' ' v, o
According’'to Carsmark, the doctors kept the redt to
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handle thinge -like home health coordinaticn and home cara
planning assessmant. As to the high pricss, Caremark
inmigts the prices charged wers competitive with ‘comparabls
servicas. © ' .

Priva Time hae learned Caremark’s deals with doctors
extanded well bayond Atlanta, Hundreds of doctors all’ "
arcund the country, lncluding cancer opecialists, ,
internists and obstetricians made financial - arrangements of’
varicun kinds with Caremark, daals that aze new the gubiect
of a widespread fedaral investigation. Carumark is already
under indictment .in Minnsgota for allegedly Paying 1.1 '
millicn dcllars.in kickbacks to a doctor for referring - °
Medicald patients to Caremark. The trial is:ptheduléd to
begin in July. Caremark says it expects to be vindicated,

AN
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Caremark Faces Heat,

I'

Physician- Salesman Enhsted
- Fellow M.D.’s,” Raising
Around

Fortunes All

—trr—

Years of Treatment for Lyme |

(i
. By THOMAS M. BURTON
Staff Reporter of THE WaALL S-mz:m JOURNAL

"+ BLOOMFIELD HILLS, Mich.” “=When

.Bruce A. Margulis left the home-health-
care business last year, the 39-yearold
physician was a millionaire many times
over, But not from practicing medlcine ‘
The internist was a kind of sitper-, sajes—
man for Caremark International Inc;, the
U.S. leader in home intravenous therapy.r

When regu[ar salespecpie couldn't get into

“ws' offices, he often could, coaxing

io direct patients into home care:
-uis generated millions ‘of doilars in
revenue and won salespeople. in: Cdre-
mark's Detroit office vacations abroad,
The suave and handsom,e Dr. Marguhs
made more than $2 milligy 3 year from a

¢ Caremark. He buiit a stgtely home in this

; estimated $23 million.
¢ An Investigation

sales joint venture he Igstablished with

alite suburb and indul his passion for

.uxury sports cars, fin; % §elllng his inter-

est in the sales venture Caremark for an\

But now Dr. Margulis is a prime focus
of a broad federal investigation into al-
- "eged Kkickbacks by Caremark and other
leaith-care companies to doctors for. pa-

1 Jdent referrals. One of his main sales

methods, former colleagues say, was to
. offer doctors payments that sometimes
‘eached $100,000 a year. Caremark says it
- Jald doctors only as compensation for
services such as monitoring patients’ blood
. tests. Bul others, including some former
. saremark -employees, say many of the
~ loctors did little or no work other than
sending patients Caremark’s way.
Caremark’s “payments to doctors were
- sales technique, and Caretnark only paid
_ [ the doctor brought in the patient,” says
Ri-mard P. Kusserow, former inspector

| of the U.S. Department of Health -
i .man Services, which is conducting
. e inquiry along with the Federal Bureau
' of Investigation, ‘“‘Patients think they're
vgatting the best medical judgment avail
; ~ble, but'money has a cortupting infivence

. n that medical decision. These payments
¢ an also lead to over-utilization and add to
the cost of health care.” .

.
.
i‘

SELY
o

- mark as a defendant — ‘

“ment in which T2 Medical Inc. (now part of -
Coram Healthcare Corp.) paid a $500, 000 -
penalty without admitting wrongdomg, 3

_ Payments for patient referral are ille-
gal kickbacks when the patients are.in-
sured by Medicare and Medicaid, but the
kickback law doesn't generally apply with

F‘RIDAY NOVEMBER 11, 1994

patients who have private insurance. The: .
FBI and HHS mvestigatmn has s0- Ear'

- yielded indictments in Columbus, Ohig;

and Minneapolis—the latter naming Care—~. R '

Home Infusion

Dr. Margulis's attorney says his chent .
believed the pavments to doctors were-; T
legal, relying on counsel at Caremark and

Baxter International Inc., which owned
Caremark from 1987 through 1992. “‘He was
doing his best to follow the rules as.he
understood them,” says the lawyer Mar—
tin L. Reisig.

Caremark denjes any 1mpr0pnety say—
ing that ‘mmpllance with the law has
always been a high priority.” It said three

as.well asa seftléty.

years ago that it would stepr-all payments -

related to Medicaid or Medieace: patients,

but by the accounts of several former .

company employees in Detroit, the ar-

rangements persisted in Michigan. Care- -

mark won't discuss arrangements with

embarked on talks with federal prosecu-
tors to resolve the matter.

-any individual doctors. The company has - J

Providing infravenous medicine and -
nutrition in the home—a practice knownas -

home infusion — is supposed to be much

cheaper than hospital care. Partly because
of this promise, it has grown rapidly, into
an industry with %4 biilion a year in
revenue, Yet “many times, home-infusion
therapy has not been cheaper than hospi-

tals, but higher,” says Edward Acela, an -

investigator with Principal Mutual Life
Insurance Co. in Des Moines, Iowa. -

Lots of Lyme

Former employees from Caremark's
Detroit office say the company charged
some $250 per patient per day for a regi-
men of intravenous nutrients, although the
ingredients cost it only about $6. Caremark
terms the $6 figure “way low.”" It also
points out that its bills include the cost of
mixing nutrients and medicines and of
home nursing visits, Home-infusion prices
have declined about 5% in the past two
years, after word of the federal inquiry
emerged, partly because of pressure from
managed-care groups.

Caremark's financial ties to doctors
may have contributed o excessive medical
care. One Michigan doctor generated
Caremark sales of more than $2 million a
vear while ptacing hundreds of people on
home antibiotic therapy for Lyme disease,
law-enforcement officials say, although
health authorities know of only a tiny

e

T

——

_ handful of cases in the whole staie. -

Caremark had contracts with doctors
spellmg out what patlem-momtormg serv-
ices were expected and forswearing any
effort to induce referrat of patients. A
Caremark attorney, Howard M. Pearl,
sayz any doctorsfailing to perform patient



Fee for Service: How Caremark Physician-Salesman
Enlisted Doctors to Send Patients the Flrm sWay

Zontinued From First Page
mo.. .ring “wotlld have wolated Care-
mark's clearty stated polimes
‘But many former Caremark employees
dismiss the notion that most doctors were
-truly performing medical services once
patients were home. Mark Deponlo, for-
mer Caremark general manager in Grand
Rapids, says he found the payments to
doctors so ethically troublesome he quit his
job after a few months in1991.
“What came through at a sales méet-
mg," he says, “‘was that the intent of these
payments was to-steer business. That
shocked me. Some of Caremark’s business
practices’ ¢heapened the services Care-
mark offered.” Barbara Pétroff, a former
Caremark pharmacist in Detroit who was

in position to be aware of monitoring of.

patients, says, “Pmbably two-thirds of the
‘payments were just paying off doctors.”
{Ms. Petroff says she left when her job was
eliminated.) ’

Dr. Margulls was at the heart of efforts
to line up doctors. A graduate of Bloomfield.

. Hills" ‘exclusive Cranbrook School -and of -

the University of Michigan medi¢al school;
he was in his residency at the prestigious:
William Beaumont. Hospital in Royal Oak,
Mich., whenhe decided in the mid-1980s to
enter 'the’ fledgling. hiome-infusion busnv
‘ness. He sealed a deat with Caremark that
h  idirect Beaumont and other patler'tg
-t ad split profits. '
_Patients ran the gamut. Some’ 11eed¢€'l1
antibiotics, pain or cancer medicine given
mtravenously Others needed very expen*!
-sive (some $100,000 a year) IV feeding,
known as total parenteral nutrition.

Dr. Mérgulis and Caremark set up a
joint venture, Physician . Health Re-
sources, to do home infusion. Then a
private company of Dr. Margulis's, Physi-
cian Care P.C., made the payments to the
referring doctors getting reimbursed by
the joint venture,-according to internal
Caremark documents. The joint venture

split its profits, which came to $4.7 miilion
before taxes in 1989, between Caremark:

and the Margulis private company, inter-

nal Caremark correspondence shows.

The thriving Detroit office, which in-
cluded the joint venture's results in its
own, became 4 big reason for Caremark’s
rising sales and earnings. Last year Care-
mark, which is based in Northbrook, 0.,
earned $77.7 million on $1.8 billion in
revenue, of which $410 million ¢ame from
home infusjon. (Caremark aiso distributes
human growth hormone, manages pre-
scription benefits and offers other serv-
ices.)

Dr. Margulis's deal with Caremark
brought him earnings and distributions of
¢ " million between 1988 and 1992, Care-
. . documents show.

‘Dollars for Docs’

Dr. Margulis enlisted doctors who were
in position to forward lots of patients.

Contracts called for doctors to document

wm k they did for their payments Former
Caremark Detroit employees say that
some physicians did-so; but add that
most didn't, and Caremark didn't insist.

Some employees grew uneasy about the |
arrangements. What Caremark termed
“fees for semce“ they joked about as |

“‘dollars for docs."”

Dariene Weidner, a former Caremark
secrefary, says she “‘used to call them
kickbacks in talking to Bruce (Margulis].
He would get upset. But basically, ftwasa
joke that these were fees for service.”

Adds Mr. Depotiio, the former Grand |

Rapids manager: “The reality was there

were no services, or limited services. The |
clear intent of the payments was to influ- !

ence patient referrals.”

Caremark top management evidently ‘

didn't share the employees’ misgivings.
“There was upper- management, support

for what Bruce was doing,” says Pat-

Moorhateh, a former Caremark operations
manager. “My impression was that Shelly
approved of what Bruce was doing,” she
adds, referring to Sheldon D. Asher, then
Caremark ‘executive vice presndent

Car Race -

Mr. Asher.:,_who ‘declines to comment,
stayed at the Margulis home on visits to

‘ Detroit and accompanied Dr. Margulis to

Detroit Pistons basketball games. The two
men maintained a friendly rivalry over
exotic sports cars; when fhey heard about
a new-model Porsche Carrera 4 coupe
about to enter the market, the two raced to
be first to acquire ofe.

Dr. Margulis won, say colleagues one
of whom adds that he.crowed, “That
[8.0.B.] Shelly is going to be so jealous.”
Forther associates sy Dr. Margulis was so
devoted to his cars he would ask his maid to
dust and scrub around the garage’s base-
board. (His attorney says the family can't
recall any such cleaning.)

- Although' Dr. Margulis wasn't techni- !

cally a Caremark employee, people in the
Detroit office were told to keep him happy.

Another infusion company tried to lure '

him away in 1990, and he apparently was
about to bolt; but Mr. Asher flew in with a
sweetened deal that induced him to stay.

Dr. Margulis became president of the -

Detroit branch. At one point, revenue
collection at the office slid, threatening his
income. Law-enforcement officials have

been told he grew angry over the sag,.
saying, “I have needs. I need to have
$125,000 a month.” The office began a’

cost-control program, going so far as {o
begin locking an office-supply cabinet.

Costly Feeding

The revenue slide turned out to be brief.

A prime engine of growth was total paren-

teral nutrition, or TPN, in which patients '

with impaired digestive capacity take all
nutrients -intravenously. Former .col-
leagues identify one physician who re-
ferred TPN patients to Caremark as Jay

- Colliney 4 surgeon in West Branch, Mich.,

who they say was enlisted by Dr. Mar-
gulis.

Eile n Dahn, discharge planner at the
hospitai where Dr. Collins practices, says
the expensive feeding method wasn't al-
ways necessary; cheaper tube feedings or
other liquid nutrition would have sufficed,
she believes. "“Our question is whether
other methods would be just as effective,”
she says. There were times, she main-
tains, that his prescribing uf TPN-was “an
off-the-wall idea.”

The hospltal is revremng Dr Collms S




| treatment practices, according to a staff
member there. And federal law-enforce-
ment officials and Blue Cross Biue Shield
of Michigan are probing his rélationship,
with Caremark, aceording to people famil-
iar with the inquiries. Dr, Cotlins didn't
respond t6 requests for an intérview. g
- Caremark paid Dr. Collins between
$1,300 and $1,900 monthly in early -1892,
records show. Kevin Roeder, former. co-
owner of a local Saginaw home-infusion _
‘company, says that when he and an associ-
ate tried {o sign up Dr. Collins, the doctor .
asked, “What is the modus operandi,
boys?” They told him they offered good
patient service but didn’t pay fees to
referring doctors. - “After he knew 'we
weren't going to offer anything, he started
to talk about sailing, and that was it,”’ Mr.
Roeder says. o o
“1 believe these fees lead to overdiag-,
nosis and over-utilization,” Mr. Roeder
| adds. “Doctors are only human.”. . . -
Dr. Margulis also helped a Caremark.
salésman sign up a Saginaw doctor named+
Joseph Natole Jr., former Caremark em--
ployees say..A 1992 Caremark document
lists Dr. Natole as producing “good and

growing volume’ of some $366,000 a year.. |

When that grew to-over $2 million annu-_
ally, -it was'.yielding about $300,000 in’
profits each for Dr. Natole and for Care-
. mark, Michigan authorities say, = -©
. Over flve years, Dr. Natole diagnosed
about 250 people as having Lyme disease:
He placed patients.on antibiotic therapy,
some of it delivered 4t home by Caremark,

‘that sometimes lasted for two years or |

more, according to transeripts of & hearing
to revoke or suspend his medical license. -
(No decision has been reached on that.)
Michigan health authorities say it ap-
pears the vast majority of those patients
didn’t actually have Lyme disease, based
on incidence of Lyme 'in the state and on
populations of ticks that spread it. William
Hall, chief of the state health department's
disease-surveillance section, says that in
the past two years there have been at most
three confirmed cases of Lyme in the

- Tufts University, who adds that two or /
. “absolutely”’ not necessary. -

Miey general, contends that “the oyerdiay-.

'?i;jip‘re‘ you make, Ninety-five

1991,.a former Caremark fi
{ outside-of-Detroit sales venture. to Carp-]
:. 1992, he negotiated a much larger sevey-
“-ance package with Caremark

" manager, Leigh A. Bonfils

entire state. Other doctors, after rev
patient records-or examining p
testified that Dr. Natole had wron
nosed and overtreated patients, .
. At the hearing, Dr. Natole testified that
“‘there is no way to currently culture the -
(Lyme] bacteria from blood” and said he
put the patients on home antibiotic therapy
partly for diagnostic purposes. But Susan
Thompson, assistant professer of medicine |
at Michigan State University, testified that:
this *‘is not an accepted method of diagnos- -
ing Lyme disease,” _— ST
And although Dr. Natole's lawyer, Scott '
L. Mandel, says there is “a healthy debate :
in the medical community about’ diagnosis
and treatment of Lyme disease,” this is"
denied by the doctor who t'u"s_t:iidentiﬁa}ir
the disease in the U.S., Allen C'.Steere of -

iewing |
atients,
gly diag-

more. years of antibiotic h‘ea_tment;’are"-

b

ot |

-, Phillip]. Frame, a state assistant a

T~

Tiosis and the Carémark issue ar¢ inte
ed. The more you gverdiagnose;: g §
. ety five percent of his |

“Cases are misdiagnosed.” - | b

- Dr. Margulis also brought to Caremark -f <
foctors from-as far away as Maine. But ifi |
finance manager .
argulis sold ‘his half of the

g

says,'Dr. M

mark for $6 million. Then, in Decemhg_ré'
, selling ithis |,
venture. .
Exultant, he called the former finaiice
, to tell her
about the terms. She declines to comment
on all other matters but confirms this
conversation. By her dccount, Dr. Mar-
gulis said Caremark would give him $10 .
million in immediate and deferred cash
payments- plus stock options ‘potentially .
worth $7 million. And the company . would i
keep him as a consultant. . -~ - ¥
Ms. Bonfils says he added one other')
thought: “He said he was going out on i
top.” o £

:portionof the in-state sales

te |
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Caremark Probe Widens to Cover Billing Practices
Medicaid May Have Pald False and Inflated Bills For Home Health Care
By Thomas M. Burton
Staff Reporter of The Wall Street Journal

Federal investigators have expanded a criminal inquiry into Caremark
International Inc. in Michigan, and now are focusing on whether the
home-care company submitted false and inflated bills to insurers,
including the Medicaid program.

The U.S. investigation in Michigan also centers on whether Caremark,
Northbrook, TIll., presented similar false billings on antibiotics and
liquid nutrition to Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan, people
knowledgeable about the inquiry say.

Federal investigators, who in the last few days have delivered
ubpoenas to Caremark’s Detroit-area office, are focusing on whether
che allegedly false bills may constitute federal crimes by violating
Medicaid and Blue Cross guidelines.

The Michigan inquiry is part of a three-year nationwide
investigation into Caremark, the nation’s leader in home-intravenous
therapy. As in the rest of the country, the Michigan investigation
largely centers on alleged kickbacks paid to doctors to refer patients
to Caremark. The inquiry there also focuses on Bruce A, Margulis, a
Detroit-area doctor who headed a sales joint venture with Caremark and
became president of the Caremark office in metropolitan Detroit. Dr.
Margulis has denied any impropriety, saying that he relied on advice
from Caremark’s lawyers.

Michigan’s Medicaid program requires that health-care providers such
ag Caremark charge the program for their own cost of drugs, plus a
handling fee. Law-enforcement officials say some other states have
similar policies, suggesting that the Michigan issue could broaden into
a national one as the inquiry proceeds.

Moreover, Blue Cross has a similar policy in Michigan, providing
that it will pay only the "net acquisition cost," plus a handling fee.
Blue Cross auditors have concluded that Caremark overbilled the insurer
by substantially marking up charges for antibiotics and other
medications, people familiar with the audit findings say. The people
Copr. (C) West 1995 No claim to orig. U.S. govt. works
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say that auditors concluded that Caremark overcharged Michigan’s Blue
Cross by several million dollars over a number of years. Blue Cross
declined to comment, citing the federal inquiry.

Caremark, which denies submitting false bills, has pointed out in
the past that its charges include the cost of pharmacists mixing
medications and of nurses who visit patients at home and instruct them
in the administration of intravenous medications and ligquid nutrition,
known as home-infusion therapy.

In a written statement, Caremark said that "whenever there is a
billing or payment question with any of our customers, we seek to
resolve the matter as quickly as possible." The company added that
audits are performed routinely, and that "payers would not be paying us
over the years if they did not value our service." Caremark declined to
‘elaborate.

Caremark’s home-infusion business made up about $410 million of the
company’'s $1.8 billion in 1993 revenue. More broadly, 1993 revenue for
all of Caremark’s home-care business care was about $918 million. Aside
from home infusion, Caremark’s home-care activities include services
related to human growth hormone Protropin, the antihemophilia product
Factor VIII and the schizophrenia drug Clozaril.

Federal law enforcement officials in Michigan also are scrutinizing
whether Caremark also may have violated federal law by systematically
failing to collect "co-payments" from Medicaid patients. These are
bercentages of medical fees that patients are supposed to pay.

Former Caremark employees in Michigan contend the co-payments
regularly were not collected there. The company points out that its
.{ procedures manual spells out: "There will be no waivers of patient
{ co-payments or deductibles."

In practice, health-care providers often find it difficult to
collect these amounts from the lower-income families insured by
Medicald. However, the government is concerned about any systematic
waiver of the payments, because they are intended, in part, to prevent
overutilization of medical care.
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CAREMARK SEEKS TO CONTROL DAMAGE AFTER QUESTIONS RAISED ABOUT BILLING
Chicago Tribune (CT) - FRIDAY, November 18, 1994
By: Steven Morris, Tribune Staff Writer.
"Edition: NORTH SPORTS FINAL Section: BUSINESS Page: 3
‘Word Count: 334

- TEXT:
Caremark International Inc. defended its billing practices Thursday

after its stock fell 6 percent following a report that its Detroit office
has become a focus of a federal investigation,

At issue is whether Caremark overbilled insurers, including
Medicaid and Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Michigan, according to an
article in The Wall Street Journal.Investigators also reportedly want to
know whether the Northbrook-based provider of home infusion therapy and
other health-care services routinely violated federal law by failing to
collect co-payments from Medicaid patients.

Dr. Bruce Margulis, a Caremark sales and marketing manager, is
sald to be a focus of the investigation. Margulis, a Detroit-area
physician, headed a sales joint venture with Caremark before becoming an
- employee. '

Caremark ‘s president, James Connelly, said the article is
misleading.

It implied, he said, that Caremark was wrongly charging Blue Cross
_ and Medicaid for services outside the "net acquisition cost.* Overcharges
~ totaled several million dollars over "a number of years," the article said.

"Net acquisition cost is just the cost (to Caremark )} of the drug"
‘ used in home infusion therapy, Connelly said. But home infusion services
~ "include far more than just drugs.®"

) "Billing disputes such as those referred to in the Journal story are

' common in health care, and they are resolved through a routine of audit,

' discussion and/or negotiation," said Connelly. "The existence of a problem
is by no means extraordinary, nor does it mean, as the Journal gstory

~implies, that there is a pattern of misconduct."

Connelly said Caremark ‘s policy is to "collect any co-payments and
; deductibles owed by patients, unless they financially are unable to pay, or
- if the cost of collection is greater than the amount due. In the case of

' Medicaid patients, an inability to pay is not unusual."

; The Justice Department and the Department of Health and Human
- Services have been investigating possible illegal kickbacks for patient
referrals and other practices in the home infusion industry for three

. years.
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stock closed at $18.62, down $1.12.
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HEADLINE: COMPANY NEWS;
INVESTIGATION QOF CAREMARK IS SAID TO GROW

BODY :

Expanding an investigation of kickbacks to doctors by home care companies,
Federal officials have subpoenaed records from the Detroit area office of
Caremark International, the nation's largest provider of intravenous drugs in
patients' homes, people with knowledge of the case said yesterday. They said
investigators were examining bills submitted to the Medicaid program and Blue
Crose and Blue Shield in Michigan, looking for overcharges and payments to
physicians to recruit patients. Kickbacks involving Medicaid and Medicare
patients are illegal under Federal law. Steve Mazur, a Caremark spckesman, said
the Nerthbrocok, Ill., company had "fully cooperated" in the three-year Federal
investigation. Caremark says its bills are legitimate.

In August, a Federal grand jury in Minneapolis indicted the company and a

Caremark vice president, charging illegal kickbacks exceeding $1.1 million to
David R. Brown, a Minneapoclis pediatrician.
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